

# DEVELOPMENT OF A FACIAL CREAM FOR ANTI-INFLAMMATORY CONTAINING HERBAL EXTRACTS



A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate School of Naresuan University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master of Science in Cosmetic Sciences 2023

Copyright by Naresuan University

## DEVELOPMENT OF A FACIAL CREAM FOR ANTI-INFLAMMATORY CONTAINING HERBAL EXTRACTS



A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate School of Naresuan University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master of Science in Cosmetic Sciences 2023 Copyright by Naresuan University Thesis entitled "Development of a Facial Cream for Anti-Inflammatory Containing Herbal Extracts" By Nino De mesa

has been approved by the Graduate School as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science in Cosmetic Sciences of Naresuan University

## **Oral Defense Committee**

	Chair
(Associate Professor Watcharee Khunkitti, Ph	n.D.)
	Advisor
(Associate Professor Neti Waranuch, Ph.D.)	
	Co Advisor
(Professor Kornkanok Ingkaninan, Ph.D.)	
	Co Advisor
(Assistant Professor Wudtichai Wisuitiprot, F	Ph.D.)
	Internal Examiner
(Assistant Professor Prapapan Temkitthawon	, Ph.D.)
	Approved
(Associate P	rofessor Krongkarn Chootip, Ph.D.)

Dean of the Graduate School

Title	DEVELOPMENT OF A FACIAL CREAM FOR ANTI-
	INFLAMMATORY CONTAINING HERBAL
	EXTRACTS
Author	Nino De mesa
Advisor	Associate Professor Neti Waranuch, Ph.D.
Co-Advisor	Professor Kornkanok Ingkaninan, Ph.D.
Academic Paper	Assistant Professor Wudtichai Wisuitiprot, Ph.D. M.S. Thesis in Cosmetic Sciences, Naresuan University,
	2023
Keywords	Moringa oleifera, Derris scandens, Centhotheca lappacea,
	Hemp seeds, Anti-inflammatory

## ABSTRACT

When patients receive laser skin therapies, the irritation arises. In reaction to inflammation, and inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha), interleukins IL-1, & IL-8, and prostaglandin E2 (PGE<sub>2</sub>). To treat skin inflammation issues, the simplest technique is to regularly apply a non-irritating facial cream. Plant extracts are increasingly being used for cosmetic and therapeutic reasons around the world. *Moringa oleifera, Derris scandens, Centhotheca lappacea*, and hemp seeds are exceptional plants that have shown anti-inflammatory effects in a variety of inflammation models.

The objectives of this study were, firstly, to investigate the antiinflammatory activities of *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract, *Derris scandens* stem extract, *Centhotheca. lappacea* leaf extract, and hemp seed extract, and develop a facial cream containing these.

*M. oleifera* leaf extract were obtained by using 50% ethanol and *D. scandens* stem extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and hemp seed extract were obtained by using 95% ethanol by maceration. Astragalin was the significant compound of interest found in *M. oleifera*. In *D. scandens*, the compound of interest was Lupalbigenin, while Coumaric acid was of interest in *C. lappacea*, and Linoleic acid in the hemp seeds. All plant extracts were evaluated for their toxicity to HaCat cells using an MTT Assay. Anti-inflmmatory activities were also measured. To

explore the levels of inflammatory inhibition demonstrated by the extracts, HaCat cells were pre-exposed to a 35 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> dose of UVB to induce inflammation. Subsequently, concentrations of 1, 10, and 100  $\mu$ g/ml of the various plant extracts were used to test their inhibition of Nitric Oxide (NO), IL-1a, IL-8, and PGE<sub>2</sub> in the pre-exposed HaCat cells.

The result for Nitric oxide (NO) test shows that all plant extract can inhibit nitic oxide production. However for IL-8 test, inhibition were greately seen in *C. lappacea leaf extracts* and *D. scandens* stem extract at concentration 10  $\mu$ g/ml, markedly inhibit the production of interlukin IL-8. The largest decrease in Il-1 $\alpha$  level was observed when the cells were treated with hemp seed seed extract at a concentration of 10  $\mu$ g/ml. PGE<sub>2</sub> inhibition study suggested *M. oleifera* leaf extract at concetration 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/ml demonstrated an inhibitory effect.

The dosage of the extracts used in our developed cream was based on the non-toxic concentration levels identified in the cytotoxicity tests that were conducted. The physical and chemical stability over time of the developed facial cream was also tested, and a preservative efficacy test was carried out on the facial cream which indicated that the preservative met the criteria of USP.

It can be concluded, therefore, that *M. oleifera* leaf extract, *D. scandens* stem extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and hemp seed extract provide an inflammatory protection. Additionally, the biological activities of these extracts suggest that facial creams containing them have the potential for the treatment of skin inflammation.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my great appreciation to my advisor Associate Professor Dr. Neti Waranuch and my co-advisors Professor Dr. Kornkanok Ingkaninan and Assistant Dr. Wudtichai Wisuitiprot, both of whose kind support and guidance were provided without restriction throughout this project. I would also like to thank my thesis committee members, Associate Professor Watcharee Khunkitti, and Assistant Professor Prapapan Temkitthaworn for their helpful advice.

My grateful thanks are also extended to Dr. Tonnam Siridechakorn for his help throughout this project, and to Dr. Vanuchawan Wisuitiprot who managed and followed through with all anti-inflammatory experiments. I wish also to acknowledge the help provided by the support staff in the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Naresuan University.

The friendship and knowledge of laboratory techniques, and the many valuable suggestions given to me, by all laboratory members of the Cosmetics and Natural Products Research Center (COSNAT) and Bioscreening Unit Lab, are greatly appreciated. I am also most appreciative of the support and encouragement that was given to me by so many friends.

I also acknowledge the efforts of Mr. Roy I. Morien of the Naresuan University Graduate School in editing this thesis to ensure correct English grammar and syntax, and proper English expression.

Finally, I wish to give my most heartfelt thanks to my family for their love, understanding support, and encouragement along this journey to my successful completion of this work, and certainly as this journey continues into the future.

Nino De mesa

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABST	FRACTC
ACK	NOWLEDGEMENTS E
TABI	LE OF CONTENTSF
LIST	OF TABLESH
LIST	OF FIGURES
CHA	PTER I INTRODUCTION
1.	Statement of the problem
2.	Purpose of the Study
3.	Scope of the Study
4.	Keywords
CHA	PTER II REVIEW OF LITERATURE AND RESEARCH
1.	Introduction
2.	Moringa Oleifera
3.	Derris Scandens
4.	Centhotheca Lappacea
5.	Hemp
6.	Ultraviolet (UV) radiation inducing skin inflammation14
7.	MTT assay for cytotoxic and cell proliferation assay Inflammation process15
8.	Inflammation process17
9.	High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) analysis19
10.	Formulation Development
CHA	PTER III RESEARCH AND METHODOLOGY24
1.	Materials and Equipment
2.	Preparation of plant extract
3.	Determination biological activities of <i>M. oliefera</i> leaf extract, <i>C. lappacea</i> leaf extract, <i>D. scandens</i> stem extracts, and Hemp seed extract

4. Anti-Inflammatory testing	27
5. Facial cream preparation	
6. Stability Test	31
7. Challenge test	33
8. Statistical Analysis	34
CHAPTER IV RESULT AND DISCUSSION	35
1. Plant Extract	35
2. Biological Activity testing	36
3. Product Formulation	46
4. Study of Facial Cream	47
CHAPTER V CON <mark>CLU</mark> SION	55
REFERENCES	57
APPENDIX.	70
BIOGRAPHY	74



# LIST OF TABLES

## Page

Table 1 Plant parts and its medical uses	7
Table 2 Commonly used raw materials in the production of skin creams	.21
Table 3 Cream base formulation	.31
Table 4 Appearances and percentage yields of extracts obtained from leaves stems   and seeds with various plants	.35
Table 5 Physical stability of facial cream after freeze-thaw cycle testing	.47
Table 6 Physical stability of facial cream after accelerated stability testing	.48
Table 7 % remaining of active compound in facial cream	.51
Table 8 Product specification	.53
Table 9 The log reduction of microorganisms	.54



## LIST OF FIGURES

## Page

Figure 1 Picture of <i>M. oleifera</i> Lam. Leaves
Figure 2 Structure of Astragalin
Figure 3 Picture of D. Scandens stem
Figure 4 Structure of Lupalbigenin
Figure 5 Picture of <i>C. Lappacea</i> leaves
Figure 6 Structure of 4-coumaric acid
Figure 7 Picture of Hemp seeds
Figure 8 Structure of Linoleic Acid
Figure 9 UV-induced signal transduction pathways
Figure 10 Metabolism of MTT to a formazan salt
Figure 11 Viability of HaCat cells after treatment of <i>M. oliefera</i> leaf extracts
Figure 12 Viability of HaCat cells after treatment of <i>C. lappacea</i> leaf extract
Figure 13 Viability of HaCat cells after treatment of hemp seeds extract
Figure 14 Viability of HaCat cells after treatment of <i>D. scandens</i> stem extract
Figure 15 The inhibitory effect on NO of <i>M. oleifera</i> leaf extract, <i>D. scandens</i> stem extract, <i>C. lappacea</i> leaf extract, and hemp seeds extract in UVB-induced inflammatory response in HaCat cells
Figure 16 The inhibitory effect on IL-8 of <i>M. oleifera</i> leaf extract, <i>D. scandens</i> stem extract, <i>C. lappacea</i> leaf extract, and Hemp seeds extract in UVB-induced inflammatory response in HaCat cells
Figure 17 The inhibitory effect on IL-1α of <i>M. oleifera</i> leaf extract, <i>D. scandens</i> stem extract, <i>C. lappacea</i> leaf extract, and hemp seeds extract in UVB-induced inflammatory response in HaCat cells
Figure 18 The inhibitory effect on PGE <sub>2</sub> of <i>M. oleifera</i> leaf extract, <i>D. scandens</i> stem extract, <i>C. lappacea</i> leaf extract, and hemp seeds extract in UVB-induced inflammatory response in HaCat cells
Figure 19 Chromatogram of <i>M. oleifera</i> extract 1 mg/ml
Figure 20 HPLC Chromatogram of Hemp seed extract 1 mg/ml

J



## **CHAPTER I**

## **INTRODUCTION**

#### 1. Statement of the problem

Many people in contemporary society consider health and beauty and cosmetic appearance to be important personal attributes requiring significant attention. This has led to significant advances in beauty treatments, skin creams and other cosmetic products and demand for these in a burgeoning market. Laser technology is an advancing technology being applied to skin and dermatological treatment (Gianfaldoni et al., 2017).

Light Amplification by Stimulated Emission of Radiation (LASER) skin resurfacing, also known as laser peeling or laser lasabrasion, is a minor skin rejuvenating surgical procedure that uses laser beams to lessen skin imperfections such as wrinkles, pigmentation spots, scars and blemishes. Laser beams eradicate the skin's outer layer, removing undesirable wrinkles, pigmented spots, scars, and blemishes. Simultaneously, the heat of the beams triggers the production of collagen fibers in the dermis. While the wound is healing, new skin will grow over it. The new skin will be smoother and firmer. A typical laser skin resurfacing uses a laser to ablate a range of problematic skin conditions. However, this treatment brings with it complex issues when the skin area being treated is large, requiring a long recuperation period. The risk of infection in this situation is high (WebMD Editorial Contributions, 2021).

Herbal extracts are currently being investigated all around the world for their effectiveness as ingredients in cosmetic products which have a huge market for such beauty products and skin and hair care (Chanchal et al., 2008). Some plants that are being used in the market for their anti-inflammatory effects are ginseng, jojoba, chamomile, licorice root, and fenugreek. Manufacturers are investing significantly large amounts of money to gain a profitable presence in this line of business.

There are many reports to be found in the literature on research and use of *Moringa oleifera* Lam. which has traditionally been used in traditional medicine for

the treatment of inflammation such as bronchitis, swelling, and pain (Anwar et al., 2007). Astragalin is a flavonoid that is one of the bioactive constituents found in *M. oleifera* leaves and its antioxidant capabilities and anti-inflammatory activities have been frequently reported (Han et al., 2004; Li et al., 2014; Luo et al., 2015; Soromou et al., 2012; Vongsak et al., 2014; Choi et al., 2013). One study reported that 50% ethanol extract of *M. oleifera* leaf significantly decreased the secretion of inflammatory mediators IL-1, IL-8 and PGE2 from UVB induced keratinocytes (Engsuwan et al., 2021). In recent years, there has been an increasing interest in products to relieve skin inflammation caused by ultraviolet (UV) radiation Type B (UVB). *M. oleifera* and Astragalin as their bioactive constituents have demonstrated efficacy in this regard.

Recently researchers have examined the effects of *Derris scandens* Benth as an anti-inflammatory, with free radical scavenging, antibacterial, antihypertensive, immunomodulatory, and anti-HIV properties. (Laupattarakasem et al., 2004; (Mahabusarakam et al., 2004; Sriwanthana et al., 2001) A wide range of biologically active chemical constituents were found in its stems and roots, which are chandalone, etunaagarone, nalanin, lonchocarpenin, osajin, robustic acid, scandenin, scandione, scandenone, scandinone, waragalone, wighteone, lonchocarpenin, and osajin (Thiangburanatham et al., 2013). The dried stems are used as an expectorant, antitussive, diuretic, and to treat arthritis, muscle and joint pains (Mahabusarakam et al., 2004). Previously, various portions of the D. scandens have been found to include coumarins, isoflavones, and glycosides as chemical components (Sreelatha et al., 2010; Mahabusarakam et al., 2004). There is a large body of published studies that describe the ethanolic extract of D. scandens. The D. Scandens extract was also able to reduce Erk1/2 activation and coercively stimulate the HT-29 cells to fatality by apoptosis, and mitotic cataclysm by the synthetization of gamma irradiation (Hematulin et al., 2014).

*Centotheca lappacea* has long been utilized in conventional remedies in Thailand and some southeast Asian countries for wound recuperation and assisting the restoration of vaginal muscle tissue and musculoskeletal tightening after giving birth (McClatchey et al., 1996; Pitiporn et al., 2014). The most commonly obtained secondary metabolites from the plants are phenolic compounds (Yeshanew et al., 2020). Previous studies have reported that *C. lappacea* contains phenolic substances, such as catechin, gallate, rosmarinic acid, epigallocatechin, gallate and gallic acid (Thavatchai et al., 2017). Recent developments also show that *C. lappacea* consists of flavonoids, fatty acids, triterpenes and phytosterols, coumarins, stilbenes, hydrolysable and condensed tannins, lignans, and lignins (Blainski et al., 2013; Kamoltham et al., 2018). To study the radiation protection efficacy of *C. lappacea* extract in human endothelial cells, it was found that ethanol extract from *C. lappacea* has anti-radiation effects. While it is non-toxic and has no effect on the cell cycle of the EA.hy926 cells. Research has shown that C. *lappacea* extract is a radiation shielding agent that protects cells from being damaged (Meethang et al., 2020). Another study investigated the 4-coumaric acid for its protective effects against UVB-induced cell damage to a rabbit's cornea (Lodovici et al., 2009).

Hemp is a crop with many uses, and is a good natural supply of many elements that are specific to plants', particular their metabolisms (Flores-Sanchez et al., 2008). Its large variety of bioactive chemicals have a major role in its favorable effects on human health. (Martinez et al., 2020). It has a large variety of bioactive chemicals that play a major role in its favorable effects on human health (Martinez et al., 2020). It has a large variety of bioactive chemicals that play a major role in its favorable effects on human health (Martinez et al., 2020). Hemp seeds contain vitamins E, C, B1, B2, B3, and B6, and are approximately 25% protein, 30% carbohydrates, and 15% insoluble fiber, and includes carotene, phosphorus, potassium, magnesium, sulphur, calcium, iron and zinc. One of the best sources of necessary fatty acids for boosting the immune system are hemp seeds. It is also known to contain a favorable amount of gamma linoleic acid (GLA), while Hemp's GLA and vitamin D are helpful in the prevention and/or treatment of osteoporosis (Borhade et al., 2013).

Recent studies have demonstrated that linoleic acid extracted from *A. brasiliensis* reduces the production of NO and stops pro-inflammatory cytokines which include TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1, and NOS2 from being expressed in RAW 264.7 cells. This suggests that linoleic acid from *A. brasiliensis* can inhibit p50 and activate PPARα to lower the generation of NO and the inflammatory activity of RAW 264.7 cells (Saiki et al., 2017). *M. oleifera, D. Scandens* and *C. lappacea* are well known medicinal plants that are readily available in Asian countries.

Hemp was recently removed from the narcotics drug list in Thailand, enabling scientific research into its properties and compounds (Thai Food and Drug Administration, 2020). Given this, the objectives of this current research is to develop a facial cream as an anti-inflammatory reduction containing herbal extracts. The composition of the cream will include four main extracts to increase its efficiency and effectiveness in reducing inflammation thus reducing the potential for further skin damage and infection. As well, such a cream would be highly marketable and would add value to Thai herbs and be profitable for Thai manufacturers by promoting its use in cosmetics products. Significant outcomes of the research will also include guidelines for the production of the cream and quality control standards.

#### 2. Purpose of the Study

1. To evaluate the anti-inflammatory effects of *M. oleifera*, *D. scandens*, *C. lappacea* and Hemp seeds extract.

2. To develop a product that has anti-inflammatory properties and contains herbal extracts.

#### 3. Scope of the Study

In this study, the cytotoxic effect on keratinocyte cells by the ethanolic extracts of *M. oleifera*, *D. scandens*, *C. lappacea* and Hemp seeds, were chosen and elucidated the safety of the extracts. The inhibition of various cytokines were used to study the plant extracts' capacity to inhibit the infilammation. Additionally, further research was conducted on the most effective plant extract concentrations to ascertain its stability by examining its bioactivity, as well as the specific information of the plant extract.

## 4. Keywords

Moringa oleifera, Derris scandens, Centhotheca lappacea, Hemp seed, Anti-inflammatory

## **CHAPTER II**

## **REVIEW OF LITERATURE AND RESEARCH**

### 1. Introduction

Inflammation is the body's natural response to tissue damage, and it can cause redness, warmth, swelling, pain, and tenderness. Laser dermatological treatments are widely utilized to treat a variety of skin issues, including fine lines and wrinkles, hyperpigmentation, scars, and acne. While these treatments have the potential to be beneficial, they can also produce skin inflammation as a side effect.

Skin inflammation is a typical adverse effect of laser dermatological treatments, as the laser can cause skin damage, resulting in redness, swelling, and discomfort. Inflammation might last a few days or several months, depending on the type of laser treatment used and the individual's skin type and sensitivity. Several factors, including laser type, energy levels employed, planned depth of penetration, patient skin type, and post-treatment care, might influence the degree of inflammation that develops following a laser dermatological treatment. Due to their higher energy levels and better tissue penetration, some lasers, such as the carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) laser, can produce more substantial skin inflammation than other laser types.

Hemp is recently legalized by the Foods and Drugs Administration (FDA) of the Ministry of Public Health in Thailand for cosmetics and medical use. *M. oleifera*, *D. scandens*, *C. lappacea* are widely available in Southeast Asian countries. Making this plant a good source of herbal extract to incorporate in facial cream formulation.



Figure 1 Picture of *M. oleifera* Lam. Leaves

Source: https://pixabay.com/photos/plant-moringa-oleifera-superfood-2307261/

## 2. Moringa Oleifera

*M. oleifera* Lam. is from the Moringaceae family, which in Thailand is called Marum, while in other countries it is commonly known as either Drumstick-tree leaf, Horseradish-tree leaf, Ben-oil-tree leaf, West-Indian-ben leaf. It is also used as a nutrient and a lactagogue for the women who breast feed their infants. The *M. oleifera* Lam is composed of phenolic acids (e.g., gallic acid), flavonoids, and their glycosides (such as astragalin, kaempferol, and quercetin) nitrile, carbamate, and isothiocarbamate glycosides, as well as carbohydrates, proteins, minerals, which are also present.

All the parts of the *M*. *oleifera* plant are currently being used for their medical purposes. Table 1 shows the components of the plant and their medical uses.

## Table 1 Plant parts and its medical uses

Plant Part	Medical Uses
Root	Constipation, rheumatism, inflammations, articular pains, lower
	back or kidney pain, antilithic, rubefacient, vesicant, carminative,
	antifertility, anti-inflammatory, stimulating in paralytic diseases;
	serve as a cardiac/circulatory tonic (Sastri, 1962; Padmarao et al.,
	1996; Dahot et al., 1988; Ruckmani, 1998)
Leaves	Used as a purgative, as a poultice for sores, as a headache remedy,
	and as a treatment for piles, fevers, sore throats, bronchitis, eye and
	ear infections, as well as for scurvy and catarrh; leaf juice is also
	applied topically to reduce glandular swelling and is thought to
	regulate blood sugar levels (Morton et al., 1991; Fuglie et al.,
	2001; Makonnen et al., 1997; Sastri, 1962; Dahot et al., 1988).
Stem Bark	Rubefacients and vesicants are used to treat delirious patients, treat
	eye illnesses, stop spleen enlargement, stop the development of
	tuberculous glands in the neck, remove tumors, and heal ulcers.
	The root bark's juice contains anti-tubercular properties and is
	applied to the tooth cavity to reduce pain and treat earaches.
	(Bhatnagar et al., 1961; Shiddhuraju and Becker, 2003)
Flower	High medicinal value as a stimulant, aphrodisiac, abortifacient, and
	cholagogue; used to treat tumors, enlargement of the spleen,
	hysteria, and muscle diseases; lowers serum cholesterol,
	phospholipid, triglyceride, VLDL, and LDL cholesterol to
	phospholipid ratio; decreases the lipid profile of the liver, heart,
	and aorta in hypercholesterolemic (Ramachandran et al., 1980;
	(Bhattacharya et al., 1982; Dahot et al., 1988; Shiddhuraju and
	Becker, 2003; (Mehta etal., 2003)
Seed	Antihypertensive substances thiocarbamate and isothiocyanate
	glycosids have been extracted from the acetate phase of the
	ethanolic extract of Moringa pods, and seed extract exerts its
	protective effect by reducing liver lipid peroxides. (Faizi et al.,
	1998; Lalas et al., 2002)

The *M. oleifera* is found in equatorial and sub-equatorial countries, and the tree can grow up to 12 meters tall. The bark of this tree is either smooth or has sunken veinlets, with raised ridges between them. From the main trunk of the tree grows smaller branches that produces many tiny leaves on either side of them, and can reach lengths of 20 to 70 cm (THP, 2021). Phytochemically, M. Oleifera leaves have been reported to contain carotene, iron and ascorbic acid and potassium (Makkar et al., 1996) and are an abundant source of essential amino acids such as methionine, cystine, tryptophan, and lysine with a significant number of proteins (Siddhuraju etal., 2003; Makkar et al., 1997). Decoctions and extracts of the plant parts of the M. Oleifera are acknowledged for their uses in traditional medicines. For example, in many parts of the Philippines, women who want to increase their production of breast milk include *M. Oleifera* leaves in their food (Anwar et al., 2007; Verma et al., 2009). It has been demonstrated that the moringa leaves are rich in nutrients and can be used in food, and some of its extracts, particularly those that include dietary polyphenols, may be used as "nutraceuticals" to enhance the health of the general populace (Siddhuraju et al., 2003). A significant flavonoid that is found in the M. oleifera leaves is called astragalin, which is one of the bioactive components that contains anti-inflammatory properties (Han et al., 2004; Li et al., 2014; Soromou, 2012).



**Figure 2 Structure of Astragalin** 

Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Astragalin



### Figure 3 Picture of D. Scandens stem

#### 3. Derris Scandens

Derris scandens (Roxb.) Benth from the family of Leguminosae, is commonly known in Thai as Thao-Wan-Priang, Brachypteri scandenidis caulis or Hog creeper vine. There are 40 species of the D. Scandens that have been categorized as containing analgesic and anti-inflammatory properties, which can be found in most equatorial countries. These can grow as a large woody scandent, or a climbing shrub that can extend up to 30m tall (Muanwongyathi et al., 1981; Bureau of Drug and Narcotic, 2021; Tiangburanatham, 1996). It is a source of biologically active substances that have been used as active ingredients in Thai traditional medicine for pain treatment. The dried stem powder and the ethanolic extract are also recommended as herbal medicines in the Thailand National List of Essential Medicines (NLEMs) for musculoskeletal pain treatment (Ayameang et al., 2020; Health., 2013; Research., 2003). Previous studies reported that benzil derivatives, coumarin, flavone, isoflavone, isoflavone glycosides, terpenes, triterpenes, pterocarpans, and steroids, are phytochemicals and chemical isolates that are found in various parts of the D. Scandens (Mahabusarakam et al., 2004; Hematulin et al., 2014;). Traditionally, *D. scandens* has been used in treating muscle pains, (Ayameang et al., 2020; Health., 2013; Research., 2003) and as an anti-tussive, diuretic, expectorant and anti-dysentery agent (Hussain et al., 2015; Kuljittichanok et al., 2018; Hematulin et al., 2014). A recent study signified that Lupalbigenin is one of the components found in 95% ethanolic extract of the D. Scandens stem (Chaichamnong

et al., 2018). A research was recently done to an LPS-induced cell changes in Raw 264.7 macrophages were used to examine the inflammatory activity of Lupalbigenin from *D. scandens* aqueous ethanol extract through molecular signaling pathways. The extract of the dried stem of the D. scandens was obtained by using the aqueous ethanol extraction method, which was then used to purify Lupalbigenin. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and nuclear factor kappa B (NF- $\kappa$ B) were all successfully suppressed by Lupalbigenin at 1.25 and 2.5 mM. Lupalbigenin also reduced the expression of p38 and JNK in the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, which inhibited LPS-induced inflammation (Sriklung et al., 2022).



Figure 4 Structure of Lupalbigenin

Source: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/8/8f/Lupalbigenin.svg



#### Figure 5 Picture of C. Lappacea leaves

Source: https://www.keycareshop.com/?p=727

#### 4. Centhotheca Lappacea

The Poaceae family includes the perennial tufted grass *C. lappacea* (Norsaengsri et al., 2008), commonly known in Thailand as ya hee yum or repair grass (Minale et al., 2021). This plant is commonly found in rain and vine forests, swamps, and wetlands that are adjacent to rivers and streams. It produces stoloniferous runners and rooting at the nodes and grows in clumps and its leaf blades can grow to be 15-30mm long (Kamoltham et al., 2017).

*C. lappacea* has been used in postpartum care for women for decades. The leaves were dried and burnt in a pot, then the smoke was used to fumigate the vaginal area which helped to heal the lacerations on the labia, and at the same time aided the tightening of the muscles. Consuming an infusion made from boiling the *C. lappacea* leaves in water has been used to nourish the body for many years (McClatchey et al., 1996; Pitiporn, 2014). Ethnopharmacological studies have identified the presence of phytosterols, flavonoids which contain anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activities. Fatty acids and phenolic compounds were found in the leaves of the *C. lappacea* (Kamoltham et al., 2018) and another researcher who used the column chromatography method, isolated 4-coumaric acid and 5,7,4'-trimethoxyflavone from its leaves (Lodovici et al., 2009). A previous study found that the *C. lappacea* had a radioprotective effect on the EA.hy926 cells, with zero evidence of toxicity (Meethang, 2020). Recent investigations sought to determine how

pretreatment with 4-coumaric acid affected the DNA oxidative stress that was brought on by intestinal inflammation in animals. 4-CA can be used to reduce mild intestinal inflammation brought on by Dextran sodium sulfate (DSS), and its effects is linked to the inhibition of the production and activities of COX-2.



Source: https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Coumaric\_acid\_acsv.svg



Figure 7 Picture of Hemp seeds

## 5. Hemp

Hemp (cannabis sativa) is an angiosperm, which means it has a flower that produces seeds enclosed within a carpel or pistil, which is the plant's reproductive organ. It can be cultivated in a desert or on the top of the coldest mountain peak, according to a cultivation guide (Crini et al., 2020) and prefers a pH balance of 6-7, well-drained land, and aerated loamy soil. Once it reaches its maximum height of 10-15 feet, a hemp crop can be harvested (Martinez et al., 2020). A large and growing body of literature has been published on the phytochemical and chemical constituents of hemp seed. The seed itself contains zinc, vitamins E, C, B1, B2, B3 and B6, and it contains 25% protein, 30% carbohydrates, 15% insoluble fiber, carotene, phosphorus, potassium, magnesium, sulphur, calcium, iron, and zinc (Borhade et al., 2013). Essential oils from the flowers, leaves, wood, fruit, and roots of hemp cultivars demonstrate a good inhibitory anti-microbial growth effect (Stefanini et al., 2006). In recent years, interest in hemp has been largely focused on the seeds, which are nutritionally beneficial for both humans and animals. Recent research has shown that linoleic acid from A. brasiliensis decreases NO production and prevents the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1, and NOS2 in RAW 264.7 cells. This implies that linoleic acid from A. brasiliensis can reduce NO

production and inflammatory activity in RAW 264.7 cells via inhibiting p50 and activating PPAR $\alpha$  (Saiki, et al., 2017).



Figure 8 Structure of Linoleic Acid

Source: (Baishya et al., 2017)

### 6. Ultraviolet (UV) radiation inducing skin inflammation

The sun's energy is the main source of ultraviolet radiation, much of which is absorbed by the ozone layer in the upper atmosphere. The ultraviolet radiation spectrum is divided into UVC (wavelengths 200-280 nm), UVB (wavelengths 280-320 nm), and UVA (wavelengths 320-400 nm), which are categories based on Human skin health, including photoaging and wavelength and energy. photocarcinogenesis, can be negatively and seriously affected by UVA and UVB radiation. When ultraviolet radiation is exposed to human skin, it causes a variety of changes, including the generation of cytokines and pro-inflammatory molecules (Köck et al., 1990; Takashima et al., 1996). Particularly in the epidermis, keratinocytes are the main source of cytokine secretion following UV exposure. The skin's immune system depends heavily on cytokines. Pro-inflammatory mediators such as cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and prostaglandin (PG) cytokine, as well as inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$ , can be produced by exposure of skin to UV radiation (Rangwala, et al., 2011). The inflammatory systems play a crucial role in the growth of tumors and can cause skin cancer. According to the study, keratinocytes exposed to UVB radiation produce inflammatory cytokines such as IL-l $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  (Barr et al., 1999). Inflammatory cytokines like TNF- $\alpha$  and pro-inflammatory substances like prostaglandins can be expressed by mast cells because of IL-1a in human skin, which can worsen inflammation in UV-exposed skin (Damian, et al., 2008; Clydesdale, et al., 2001; Barr, et al., 1999;). TNF-α expression from UVB-irradiated keratinocytes has been demonstrated to be increased by IL-1 $\alpha$ ,

whereas IL-1ß can increase the expression of matrix metalloprotease in human skin via activating NF- $\kappa$ B and Activator protein-1 (AP-1) in the skin (Bashir et al., 2009). MMP exposure to UVB radiation is now better understood and the molecular mechanisms underlying their induction are starting to become clear. According to the Fisher model (Fisher et al., 2002), UV radiation produces ROS and activates growth factors and cytokines through their receptors on the surface of keratinocytes and fibroblasts, which then causes signal transduction through a protein kinase cascade and the nuclear activation of AP-1. The dermis and epidermis are consequently stimulated to produce MMPs like metalloproteinase (MMP) 1 (collagenase), MMP-3 (stromelysin 1), and MMP9 (gelatinase B). These enzymes cause collagen which is the primary protein in the extracellular matrix to degrade.



Figure 9 UV-induced signal transduction pathways

Source: Fisher et al., 2022

#### 7. MTT assay for cytotoxic and cell proliferation assay Inflammation process

Screening and safety assessment are the two crucial steps in providing the correct scale of bioactive compounds. Cytotoxicity assays were among the first *in vitro* bioassay methods used to predict the toxicity of substances on various tissues (Berardesca et al., 1995). Researchers have different goals when doing their research. These specific goals have a particular cytotoxicity assay to be used. Four main categories of assays were utilized to observe the reaction of cultivated cells following exposure to potentially toxic substances (Berardesca et al., 1995; Corsini et al., 1995;

(Orjalo et al., 2009; Apte et al., 2006; Ricciotti et al., 2011; Aoki et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2013) cell viability, cell membrane integrity, cell proliferation, and metabolic activity are the measures used when observing the reactions. 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide tetrazolium reduction colorimetric assay was used to evaluate the detrimental intracellular effects on metabolic activity. Researchers worldwide used this assay because of its simplicity, popularity and clear description of the intracellular effects.



Figure 10 Metabolism of MTT to a formazan salt

Source: Kuete, et al., 2017

In prior research, the depletion of yellow tetrazolium salt (3-(4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide or MTT) to purple formazan crystals by metabolically functioning cells, MTT was reduced to formazan by NAD(P)H-dependent oxidoreductase enzymes that are in the viable cells. The absorbance was measured at 540 nanometers using a spectrometer and the quantified cells were in a colored solution because the insoluble formazan crystals are dissolved by a solubilizing solution. The greater the metabolical activity and the number of viable cells, the darker the solution will be. Over time, researchers have developed this non-radioactive colorimetric assay system (Mosmann et al., 1983; Bahuguna et al., 2017).

### 8. Inflammation process

Pain, edema, redness, heat, and loss of function are the most common symptoms of inflammation. Inflammation is classified into acute and chronic forms. Acute inflammation is a non-specific early response to tissue injury that can continue from seconds to days. The major features of the inflammatory reaction are the exudation of build and plasma proteins, as well as the emigration of leukocytes, primarily neutrophils. Chronic inflammation is characterized as a condition in which there is ongoing inflammation over an extended period of time, and it is connected histologically with the presence of lymphocytes and macrophages, blood vessel proliferation, fibrosis, and tissue necrosis. Many factors can influence the pathology and histology of both acute and chronic inflammation.

#### 8.1 Arachidonic acid metabolites

One of the key inflammatory mediators is formed from arachidonic acid metabolism. Arachidonic acid is a 20-carbon (C20) fatty acid that can be obtained directly from food or through conversion from an important fatty acid. It is now present in the cell freely, but it is generally esterified in membrane phospholipids. It is released from membrane phospholipids by mechanical, chemical, and physical stimuli or other mediators activating a cellular phospholipase. Arachidonic acid metabolites, commonly known as eicosanoids, are made by two types of enzymes: COXs and Lipoxygenases (Foegh et al., 1998). Eicosanoids can mediate nearly every stage of inflammation, are detected in inflammatory exudates, and their synthesis is accelerated at an inflammatory site.

#### 8.1.1 Prostaglandin

Prostaglandin E2 (PGE<sub>2</sub>) is a bioactive lipid that has been linked to a variety of biological effects related to inflammation and cancer. PGE2 is a member of the prostanoid lipid family, which is a subclass of eicosanoids produced by the oxidation of 20-carbon essential fatty acids (EFAs) that are commonly found in membrane phospholipids. The cellular effects of inflammation are responsible for all clinical manifestations of inflammation, including rubor (redness), tumor (swelling), dolor (pain), and fever. Increased blood flows into the inflamed tissue due to PGE2mediated vasodilation and increased microvascular permeability cause redness and edema (Ricciotti et al., 2011; Aoki et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2013).

## 8.2 Cytokines

Inflammatory cytokines are small proteinaceous molecules and are produced by many cell types, especially by macrophage and mast cells. They play an important role in the initiation and maintenance of inflammatory disease as a mediator of cell-cell interaction, their response including activation of endothelium and leukocytes an induction of the acute-phase response.

#### 8.2.1 IL-1α and IL-8

Interleukin-1 $\alpha$  (IL-1 $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-8 (IL-8) expression and release in an *in vitro* reconstructed human epidermis for prediction of *in vivo* skin irritation and/or sensitization (Orjalo et al., 2009; Ricciotti et al., 2011; Apte et al., 2006; Aoki et al., 2012). Immersed keratinocyte cultures were chosen for the development of *in vitro* methods to test irritants or sensitizers because of their ability to produce a wide range of inflammatory mediators (Chen et al., 2013). IL-1 (both alpha and beta forms) is a multifunctional cytokine that regulates inflammatory and immune responses primarily by initiating a signal transduction cascade that eventually induces IL-6 and IL-8 expression (Ricciotti et al., 2011).

## 8.3 Nitric Oxide (NO)

No is both water and lipid soluble, allowing it to move freely within and between cells and serving as a highly efficient local signaling molecule. The roles of NO in vasodilation, inflammation, immunomodulation and oxidative damage to cells and tissues are particularly relevant to the skin (Barker et al., 1991). *In vitro* experiments showed that inflammatory stimuli induce keratinocytes to produce both NO and hydrogen peroxide. These experiments provided the first indication that NO may be an important component of the immune response in human skin. These studies also showed that the epidermal growth factor, which promotes wound healing by stimulating cellular proliferation, is a strong inhibitor of NO synthesis by epidermal keratinocytes. Based on these findings, it has been proposed that NO produced by keratinocytes plays an important role in the regulation of epidermal proliferation during wound healing (Barker et al., 1991).

## 9. High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) analysis

High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) is an analytical tool capable of detecting, separating, and quantifying a drug, its various impurities, and drug-related degradants that may form during synthesis or storage. It entails an understanding of the chemistry of the drug substance and aids in the development of analytical methods. HPLC is used not only for quantitative analysis but also for sample fractionation. The purpose of the fractionation is to separate and purify the target compounds in the sample mixture. The mechanism of HPLC has two phases, the mobile phase and the stationary phase. The mobile phase is a liquid that can dissolve the target compound. The stationary phase is a particular part in a column that interacts with the target compound.

The mobile phase is delivered by a pump. The sample is injected into the mobile phase and introduced into a column packed with fine particles that have chemically connected groups such as c18. The elution speed from the column depends on the interaction between the compound and the stationary phase. The target compounds go through the column at different speeds and, during this process, the mixture is separated into each compound. These are eluted from the column and detected by a detector and a plot called a chromatogram is produced based on the signal from the detector. There are two types of elution. As the fundamental HPLC separation method, isocratic mode is widely employed in many laboratories. To elute compounds going through the column, this method employs a fixed ratio of solvent as the mobile phase and offers a stable baseline as well as an unchanging response factor, making it appropriate for the analysis of basic compounds. The disadvantage of this mode is that it is unable to elute complicated substances since they have a wide range of polarities, which could prolong analysis time. By altering the composition and ratio of the mobile phase during system operation, gradient elution is a modified method that facilitates the separation of complicated compounds. Between sample analyses, the mobile phase's elution strength can be changed. As a result, compared to the isocratic mode, the gradient mode is anticipated to offer a shorter time analysis and better resolution. It is appropriate for complicated substances or several analyses of different polarities since it improves peak resolution and sensitivity. However, compared to the isocratic method, this approach requires more complicated instrumentation and development. In general, the signal is proportional to the concentration of the targeted compound (Gupta et al., 2012).

### **10. Formulation Development**

## **10.1 Facial cream preparation**

The most common dispersions used in cosmetics manufacturing are emulsions. To ensure the stability of oil droplets dispersed in water (o/w type emulsions) or oil (w/o type emulsions), emulsifiers or surfactants are required (Brummer et al., 2006; Moravkova et al., 2011). Creams are semi-solid emulsions composed of oil and water. **Table 2** shows the following raw ingredients that are commonly used in the production of skin creams.



Table 2 Commonly used raw materials in the production of skin creams

Name	Function(s)
Water(Aqua)	This is used in skin creams as a solvent to dissolve other
	cream ingredients. Creams are prepared using water that is
	deionized of any toxins, pollution, microorganisms, etc.
	Depending on the amount of water used in the formulation,
	water can also form emulsions (Chauhan et al., 2020).
Oils, fat, waxes	Creams must contain oil, lipids, waxes, and the derivatives
	that these substances produce. Depending on the role, oils,
	fats, and waxes serve as thickeners, emulsifiers, perfuming
	agents, and preservatives, among other things.
Emollients	Function by enhancing the skin's capacity to retain water,
	coating the skin with oil to stop water loss, and lubricating
	the skin (Jamshiya et al., 2017).
Humectant	These are crucial, multipurpose components that are present
	in the majority of skin care products. Organic hydrophobic
	substances are humectants. These are the substances capable
	of absorbing or holding onto moisture (Reddy et al., 2012).
Active Ingredient	Plays a crucial part in preserving the skin's and the body's
	physiological health. The formulation of the creams typically
	includes but not limited to vitamins A, B, C, and E, are
	among others.
Preservative	This is important to avoid contamination and microbial
	modification during production, transportation, storage, and
	customer use.
Color	Used for esthetics
Perfume	Material that emits odors or scents, including a sweet and
	pleasant perfume.

Cream preparation has become simpler thanks to additives such as emulsifying agents, and the development of new techniques.

## **10.2 Stability Testing**

The cosmetic formulation will be tested for stability using the protocol recommended by the World Health Organization (2009). Product stability testing is an important factor in formulation development with two main objectives; to select an appropriate formulation during product development, and to ensure product stability is maintained throughout the shelf life of the cosmetic product.

The cream will be stored at 50°C for 30 and 90 days. Physical and chemical properties will then be determined. Previously, stability testing was done under ambient conditions for long periods, but this process is no longer economical because of the time and effort required. Chemical kinetics are now proposed to design experimental conditions for the accelerated testing of product stability and the measurement of the concentration of the active substances at different times.

#### **10.2.1** Accelerated stability test

Because of the relatively short development cycle for cosmetic products, accelerated tests allow for the prediction of stability. A common practice is to conduct periodic post-launch monitoring of retained samples stored at ambient temperatures to support the results obtained from accelerated stability testing. The information gathered can also be used to improve the product and the methodology for accelerated stability testing.

## **10.2.2 Heat-Cool Cycles**

Some deficiencies can be revealed more quickly through testing than by passive storage at a constant temperature. Certain types of products can be subjected to freeze-thaw testing which can detect problems such as suspension problems (a tendency to crystallize or cloud), cream instability.

#### **10.2.3 Microbial Testing**

Microbial growth is a common issue for both sterilized and unsterilized formulas, which is why excipients are added for microbial preservation. Improper usage, storage and manufacturing are problems commonly encountered that promote microbial growth. Antimicrobial effectiveness testing is done by inoculating microorganisms separately to the sample product, in elevated concentrations, to trigger contamination.

## **10.2.4 Challenge test**

The specification of the challenge test can be seen in the SCCS Notes of Guidance published by the Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety. According to this publication, all cosmetic products are prone to contamination regardless of proper storage and utilization, and preservation tests should be carried out to identify the risk of infection from using these products. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli, Candida albicans* and *Aspergillus niger* should come from official collection strains from states in the EU. To achieve sufficient reproducibility, standardized cultures and inoculum preparation are a necessity. For these tests, the recommendation from the SCCS is to use germs that are known to lead to the spoilage of cosmetic products.



## **CHAPTER III**

## **RESEARCH AND METHODOLOGY**

## 1. Materials and Equipment

## **Chemicals and reagents**

- Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), (Gibco, United States)
- Penicillin-streptomycin (Pen Strep), (Gibco, United States)
- Phosphate buffered saline (PBS), (Gibco, United States)
- 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5- diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT),

(Gibco, United States)

- Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits, (eBioscience, United

States)

- Griess assay kit, (Promega, United States)
- ELISA kit for the human PGE2, (Abcam, United States)
- Trypsin-EDTA (0.25% Trypsin-EDTA), (Gibco, United States)
- All solvents used will be of analytical reagent grade (RCI Labscan,

Thailand)

Instruments and equipment

- Incubator CO<sub>2</sub> (Forma series II, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., (USA)
- Microplate Spectrophotometer (Multimode detector DTX 880,
- Beckmann, Switzerland)
- Micro refrigerated centrifuge (Kubota 3740, Japan)
- pH meter (Mettler Toledo Model S20-K, GmbH Schwerzenbach,

Switzerland

- UV test chamber BS-04 (Opsytec Dr. Groebel, Germany; wavelength 313

nm)

### 2. Preparation of plant extract

The leaves of *M. oliefera* were collected from Phitsanulok province Thailand, and deposited voucher specimen (collection No. J. Engsuwan002). The *M. oleifera* leaves were dried in a hot air oven at 50°C. The dried leaves were ground into rough powder and passed through a 60mm mesh sieve. The powdered leaves were extracted using 50% ethanol in water. It was macerated and shaken for 48 hr. Afterward, it was filtered with filter paper and the ethanol was evaporated under reduced pressure using a rotary evaporator. The protocol was similar to a study reported by Engsuwan et al., 2021.

Additionally, leaves of *C. lappacea* were collected from Wang Thong Phitsanulok province Thailand. The voucher specimen collection No. (05880). The aerial part of *C. lappacea* and hemp seeds were dried in a hot air oven at 50°C, then ground to powder and passed through a 60 mm mesh sieve. The powder was macerated in 95% ethanol for one day while shaken and then filtered through filter paper and the ethanol was evaporated under reduced pressure using a rotary evaporator. Hemp seeds was purchased from Highland Research and Development Institute (Public Organization) with voucher specimen (5784). The steps in *C. lappacea* leaf extractions were followed in a previous research by Meethang et al., 2020.

The stems of *D. scandens* were collected from the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences garden, Naresuan University, Phitsanulok, Thailand with a voucher specimen (No. 05879) was deposited and kept at the PNU herbarium of the Faculty of Science, Naresuan University. The stem of *D. scandens* was sliced into small pieces, and dried at 50°C. It was grounded with a mixer grinder. The dried powder was macerated in 95% ethanol for 3 days. The extract was filtered and evaporated to dryness under reduced pressure. The procedure was correspondent to a prior study describe by Hematulin et al., 2014.
# **3.** Determination biological activities of *M. oliefera* leaf extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, *D. scandens* stem extracts, and Hemp seed extract

The cell culture protocol was reviewed by the Naresuan University Institutional Review Board (IRB no. P1-0006/2566).

#### **3.1 Cell cultures**

HaCat cell (Immortalized human keratinocyte cell line) (EP-CL-0090) was purchased from Elabscience (Houston, Texas, USA) Keratinocyte Cells were grown and maintained for 2 to 3 days in DMEM complete medium at pH 7.4, supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum, and 1% penicillin-streptomycin solution in a humidified atmosphere (5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air, 37°C). The cells will be grown under standard conditions until 60 - 80% confluency before subculturing. The cell culture media was removed from the culture flask once the cell confluence reached roughly 80%. The leftover medium was then rinsed twice with 3 ml of sterile PBS (pH 7.2-7.4). The adhesion cells were then detached from the flask using 3 ml of 0.25% trypsin-EDTA solution, which was then incubated for 5 minutes. To inhibit the trypsin activity, the same ratio of complete medium was introduced. The detached cell was transferred to a centrifuge tube and spun for 5 minutes at 1500-3000 rpm. Finally, the cells were counted or seeded for the experiment

#### **3.2 Sample Preparation**

Hemp and *D. scandens* extract were solubilized using 100% DMSO. While *M. oleifera* leaves extract, and *C. lappacea* leaves extracts were solubilized with 20% DMSO and 80% DMEM-free serum. The concentration of *M. oleifera* leaves extract, *C. lappacea* leaves extracts and Hemp seeds extracts were prepared using 2-fold serial dilution ranging from 3.9 to 500  $\mu$ g/ml while for *D. scandens* extract the serial dilution used were ranging from 0.20 to 25  $\mu$ g/ml. However, because a high concentration of DMSO can harm cells, the final concentration of DMSO should be less than 1% when solubilized in a serum-free medium.

#### **3.3** Cytotoxicity testing

An MTT assay was conducted to assess the effects of *M. oleifera D. scandens*, *C. lappacea* leaf and hemp seeds extracts on the survival of keratinocytes. The mitochondrial reductase enzymes of living cells can reduce the MTT reagent, which has a yellow color, to insoluble formazan which has a purple color and that color then reflects the number of viable cells present. The cells will be seeded at a concentration of  $2 \times 10^4$  cells/well in 96-well plates containing DMEM, FBS and Pen strep in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C until the cells completely adhere to the well plate. The medium will be removed and will be replaced with DMEM free serum medium containing plant extracts at various concentrations for 24 hr. MTT solution will then be added to each well and the plate incubated in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C for 4 hr. The MTT solution will be replaced by DMSO AR grade for 10 min and the absorbance will then be read at 595 nm with a microplate reader. The absorbance of the control group (untreated cells) will be considered as 100% cell viability, and the cell morphology will be observed under an inverted microscope.

% Cell viability =  $\frac{\text{Optical density}_{595}\text{ of treated cell}}{\text{Optical density}_{595}\text{ of untreated cell}} \times 100$ 

#### 4. Anti-Inflammatory testing

#### 4.1 Sample preparation

HaCat cells were seeded at a concentration of  $5 \times 10^5$  cells/well in a 24well plate containing DMEM complete medium in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C for 24 hr. The cells were washed once with 1 ml of PBS and then covered with a thin layer of PBS. The cells were exposed to UVB using a UV test chamber BS-04 with a dose of 35 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> for NO, IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-8, and PGE2 assay. After exposure, the PBS was replaced with a DMEM-free serum medium containing *M*. *oleifera*, *D. scandens*, *C. lappacea*, and hemp seed extracts at various concentrations for 24 hr. The cells will then be incubated in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C for 24 hr. The cell culture medium will be collected and stored until used for further experiments.

#### 4.2 Assay for Nitric Oxide

Nitric oxide (NO) released from HaCat cells was assessed by nitrite quantification using a Griess assay kit following the supplier's protocol. HaCat cells were seeded at a concentration of  $5 \times 10^5$  cells/well in a 24-well plate containing DMEM complete medium in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C for 24 hr. 5

 $\mu$ g/ml of N(G)-monomethyl L-arginine (L-NMMA) was utilized as a positive control because it is a particular inhibitor of this pathway (Rees et al., 1989). The cells were washed once with 1 ml of PBS and then covered with a thin layer of PBS. The cells were exposed to UVB using a UV test chamber BS-04 with a dose of 35 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> to induce inflammation. Cell culture medium was collected after 24 hr. The 50 µl of supernatant was added to the well plates, then 50 µl of sulfanilamide solution was added to each well and the plates were incubated for 10 minutes. Afterward, 50 µl of N-1-naphthyl ethylenediamine dihydrochloride solution was added and the plate was incubated for an additional 10 minutes. Samples containing nitrite will have a magenta color that absorbs 543 nm light. A calibration curve using standard nitrite of known concentration was created. The results will be calculated as  $\mu$ M of nitrite ( $\mu$ mol of nitrite /1 of cell culture medium).

#### 4.3 IL-1α assay by sandwich ELISA

IL-1 $\alpha$  released from HaCat was assessed using ELISA kits following the protocols proposed by the manufacturer. The positive control was 5 µg/ml hydrocortisone, while the negative control was untreated cells. First, the microwells were washed twice with 400  $\mu$ l of wash buffer. It was tapped dry in an absorbent pad to remove excess wash buffer. Next, 100 µl of standard and sample were added into microwells. Followed by 50 µl of Biotin–Conjugate anti-human IL-1a polyclonal antibody. It was sealed and incubated for at least 2 hr at room temperature. After incubation, microwells were washed again four times with 400 µl of wash buffer. Followed by adding 100 µl of diluted Streptavidin-HRP. It was sealed and incubated again for at least 1 hr at room temperature. The incubated microwells were washed again four times with 400  $\mu$ l of wash buffer. Next, 100  $\mu$ l of TMB solution was added to all microwells. It was sealed and incubated again for 10 min. Aluminum foil was used to cover and avoid exposure to light. Lastly, 100 µl of stop solution was added to each microwell. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm using a microtiter plate spectrometer. The amount of IL-1 $\alpha$  concentration in culture supernatant from Keratinocyte cells was calculated using IL-1a calibration curve.

#### 4.4 IL-8 assay by sandwich ELISA

IL-8 released from HaCat cells was assessed using ELISA kits following the protocols proposed by the manufacturer. The positive control was 5  $\mu$ g/ml

hydrocortisone, while the negative control was untreated cells. A 96-well highbinding microplate was covered with capture antibodies (1X) 100 µl, sealed, and stored overnight at 4°C. After that, the plate was washed three times with 300  $\mu$ l/well with washing buffer (1X). To prevent non-specific portion binding, 200 µl/well of ELISA diluent (1X) was added and incubated at room temperature on a shaker (200 rpm) for 1 hour. Before adding 100 µl/well of IL-8 standard and sample, the plate was washed three times. Following that, the plate was washed five times before adding 100 µl/well of the detection antibody (1X) and incubating on the shaker at room temperature for 2 hr or alternatively stored at 4°C overnight. The plate was rinsed five times before adding 100 µl/well Streptavidin/HRP (1X) and shaken at room temperature. After 30 min, the plate was rinsed seven times, 100 µl/well of TMB was added, and the solution was shaken at room temperature for 15 min while avoiding light. The enzymatic reaction was then rapidly stopped by adding 100 µl/well of stop solution. A micrometer plate spectrophotometer was used to measure absorbance at 450 nm. Using the IL-8 calibration curve, the quantity of IL-8 concentration in the culture supernatant of keratinocyte cells was estimated.

#### 4.5 PGE<sub>2</sub> production assay

PGE<sub>2</sub> released from HaCat cells will be assessed using an ELISA kit following the protocols proposed by the manufacturer. The positive control was 5  $\mu$ g/ml hydrocortisone, while the negative control was untreated cells. The coated microwells were first washed twice in 400  $\mu$ l of wash buffer. To eliminate excess wash buffer, it was patted dry in an absorbent pad. Following that, 150  $\mu$ l of 1X Tris Buffer was added to the non-specific binding (NSB) wells, as well as 100  $\mu$ l of 1X Tris Buffer to the zero standards (B0) wells. Then 100  $\mu$ l of standards and samples were added to the respective wells. Each well received 50  $\mu$ l of PGE<sub>2</sub> AP Tracer. Each well also received 50  $\mu$ l of PGE<sub>2</sub> Antibody. To mix, tap the plate on the counter. It was sealed and incubated at room temperature for 2 hr on a shaker (200 rpm). Aspirate the solution and wells were washed thoroughly five times with 1X wash buffer. Following that, 200  $\mu$ l of pNPP solution was added to each well. Finally, 5  $\mu$ l of AP Tracer was added to total activity (TA) wells. It was sealed and incubated at room temperature for 60 to 90 minutes. A microtiter plate spectrometer was used to detect absorbance at 450 nm. Using the PGE<sub>2</sub> calibration curve, the quantity of IL-1 $\alpha$  concentration in the Keratinocyte cell culture supernatant was estimated.

#### 5. Facial cream preparation

The base cream compositions are shown in Table 3. The ingredients in the oil phase will be melted based on their melting points. The wax with the highest melting point is melted first, and the wax with the lowest melting point is added last. The liquid oil ingredients are then added and combined. Carbopol is dispersed separately in water and neutralized with triethanolamine to form a gel for the aqueous phase. Sodium Polyacrylate and glycerin will be dissolved in water and added to the aqueous phase. The oil phase and aqueous phase will be separately heated to 70-75°C at which temperature the oil phase was poured into the aqueous phase while being constantly homogenized at 2000 rpm. The resulting base cream will be homogenized continuously until it reaches 40°C, and Microcare phc will then be added and homogenized until the base cream was homogeneous.



		Ingredients		
Phase	Trade Name	INCI Name	Function	%w/w
Α	DI Water	Aqua	Solvent	q.s
	Carbopol Ulterez-21	Acrylates/C10-30 Alkyl	Thickener	0.1
		Acrylate Crosspolymer		
	Triethanolamine	Triethanolamine	Neutralizer	0.1
В	DI Water	Aqua	Solvent	30.0
	Glycerin	Glycerin	Humectant	3.0
	Sodium Polyacrylate	Sodium Polyacrylate	Stabilizer	0.3
С	Stearic Acid	Stearic Acid	Thickener	4.0
	Cutina EGMS T	Glceryl Sterate	Emulsifier	2.0
	Emulgade F	Cetearyl Alcohol (and)	Emulsifier	2.0
		PEG-400 Castor Oil (and)		
		Sodium Cetearyl Sulfate		
	Lexumul 561	Glyceryl Sterate, PEG-100	Emulsifier	0.3
		Stearate		
	Emulium Delta	Cetyl Alcohol (and)	Emulsifier	0.2
		Glyceryl Stearate (and)		
		PEG-75 Stearate (and)		
		Ceteth-20 (and) Steareth-20		
	Mineral Oil	Mineral Oil	Emollient	1.0
D	Microcare PHC	Pheoxythanol (and)	Preservative	1.0
		Chlorphnesin (and) Glycerin		
F	Perfume	Perfume	Perfume	q.s

#### **Table 3 Cream base formulation**

### 6. Stability Test

The cosmetic formulation was tested for stability following the protocol recommended by the World Health Organization (2009). The cream will be stored at Room Temperature, 4°C, and 50°C for 30 and 90 days and the physical and chemical properties of the cream will be determined.

#### **6.1 Physical stability**

The guidelines for facial care products were followed using the Thai industrial standard (TISI, 2010). The pH, general characteristics or phase separation, color, and smell were evaluated.

#### **6.2 Chemical Stability**

The formulated facial cream chemical stability was tested using the HPLC method to determine the percentage of the remaining herbal extracts in the cream.

#### 6.3 High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) analysis

The percentage of herbal extracts remaining in facial cream at each time point was determined using an Agilent 1260 HPLC system. Phenomenex Luna C18 columns (150 mm x 4.6 m, 5 $\mu$ m) (Phenomenex, Torrance, USA) were used for HPLC analysis. The mobile phases of analysis were as follows; 0.1% (v/v) Formic Acid in H2O (A) and 0.1% (v/v) Formic Acid in ACN (B) with a gradient elution ratio starting from 15% - 40% (B) for 0 - 10 mins, 10 - 20 mins 40% (B), 20-25 mins 40% -100% (B), 25 - 30 mins 100%. The column temperature was maintained at 40°C, with a constant flow rate of 0.7 ml/min for 30 mins. The injection volume was 10 µl for determining p-coumaric acid content with absorbance evaluated at 310 nm. The method was reported by Minale et al. 2021 with some modifications.

The linoleic acid content in the facial cream was determined using ACN (A) and 0.1% (v/v) Glacial acetic acid (B) (95:5) with an injection volume of 20  $\mu$ l and was followed at 1 ml/min. The column temperature was not controlled, and the absorbance was evaluated at 205 nm. This method was reported by Kerdsiri et al, 2020. Astragalin was determined on a gradient solvent using 1% (v/v) glacial acetic acid (A) and methanol (B) as the mobile phase. The ratio was as follows 80:20 (A:B) in 3 mins, 80:20 to 65:35 (A:B) in 11 mins held for 14 mins, 63:35 to 0:100 (A:B) in 25 mins held in 5 mins. The contents of coumaric acid, linoleic acid, and astragalin were calculated from the peak area of standard coumaric acid, linoleic acid, and astragalin.

#### 7. Challenge test

The challenge test was carried out to observe microbial contamination in cosmetics during use, storage, or manufacturing by adhering to the United States Pharmacopoeia standard (USP 35, chapter 51) on the topic of antimicrobial effectiveness testing, which used 5 microorganisms (3 bacteria and 2 fungi) for challenge testing.

The test will be conducted using the test organisms *Candida albicans* (ATCC No. 10231), *Aspergillus niger* (ATCC No.16404), *Escherichia coli* (ATCC No. 8739), *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (ATCC No. 9027), and *Staphylococcus aureus* (ATCC No. 6538). These bacterial and fungal types are known as human pathogens. They were collected from Thailand's Ministry of Public Health's Department of Medical Sciences. The inoculum was made by direct colony suspension and contained 10<sup>8</sup> CFU/ml. In the case of *A. niger*, spores were counted to yield a concentration of around 10<sup>6</sup> spores/ml.

The formulated cream and 0.85% NSS were split into 5 bottles of 10 ml each. For each bottle, 0.85% NSS was utilized as a control. Each bottle received 100  $\mu$ l of inoculum. Each bottle of NSS was 10-fold diluted three times to 10<sup>-1</sup>, 10<sup>-2</sup>, and 10<sup>-3</sup> at the start. Each 100  $\mu$ l dilution was placed on an agar plate. The bacteria culture media will be trypticase soy agar (TSA), and the yeast and mold culture medium will be sabouraud dextrose agar (SDA). Following that, the spread plate approach was utilized. *E. coli, P. aeruginosa,* and *S. aureus* were cultured for 24-48 hr at 37°C. *C. albicans* and *A. niger* were incubated for 48-72 hr at 25°C. After 7, 14, and 28 days, the leftover bottles of face cream were determined. At the time of testing, 1 ml of mouthwash from each container was mixed with 9 ml of neutralizing diluent (10<sup>-1</sup>) containing 5% tween 80 and 0.5% lecithin, and then 1-fold diluted to 10<sup>-2</sup> and 10<sup>-3</sup>. Furthermore, 100  $\mu$ l of diluted facial cream was put on an appropriate agar plate and smeared across it. The developing colonies were enumerated, CFU/ml computed, and log CFU/ml calculated (Giorgio et al, 2018; Siegert et al, 2012).

The data were evaluated using the category 2 product criteria. Bacteria had decreased by less than 2.0 logs from the original count after 14 days. There was no growth in yeast and mold counts on days 7, 14, and 28 compared to the first count. (Chapter, 2014; Sutton et al., 2002).

#### 8. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis using mean values and standard variance ranges (mean  $\pm$  SD) will be undertaken, and Student's t-test will be used for comparison between the tested group and the control group and statistical significance will be considered at p<0.05 where appropriate. These statistics will be published in Chapter IV below.



#### **CHAPTER IV**

#### **RESULT AND DISCUSSION**

The study's findings are presented in this chapter. Cytotoxicity testing, antiinflammatory testing, stability testing, HPLC analysis, and challenge testing are all included.

#### **1. Plant Extract**

The plants' leaves, stem, and seeds were extracted with different concentrations of ethanol. The appearance and percentage yield of the extracts is shown in Table 4.

# Table 4 Appearances and percentage yields of extracts obtained from leaves stems and seeds with various plants

Type of extract	Appearance	% yield
M. oleifera leaf extract	Dark green sticky mass	12.37
D. scandens stem extract	Dark brown sticky mass	7.79
C. lappacea leaf extract	Dark green sticky mass	4.40
Hemp seed extract	Dark brown sticky mass	8.77

The yield percentages shown in Table 4 are calculated as:

Yield percent = [dry weight of extract after extraction/weight of ground powder extract used before extraction] x 100.

In general, the yield obtained from 50% aqueous ethanolic extract was higher than those from the 95% ethanolic extract. The extracts from *M. oleifera* gave a higher yield (12.37%) than the yields from the 95% ethanolic extracts. The yield obtained from the *D. scandens* stem extracts was 7.79% and from the hemp seed extracts, 8.77%, and the extract obtained from *C. lappacea* gave the lowest yield of 4.74%.

#### 2. Biological Activity testing

#### 2.1 Cytotoxic and cell proliferation testing

To test the abilities of M. oleifera leaf extract, C. lappacea leaf extract, and Hemp seeds extract against cell viability, HaCat cells were exposed to concentrations ranging from 3.91 to 500 µg/ml for M. oleifera leaf extract, C. Lappacea leaf extract, and hemp seeds extract, while 0.20 to 25 µg/ml for D. scandens stem extract for 24 hr.

HaCat cells were also exposed to 0.20 to 12.5  $\mu$ g/ml concentrations of D. scandens stem extract for 24 hr and no cytotoxicity was observed. However, at concentrations greater than 12.5 µg/ml the viability of the HaCat cells was significantly reduced. (p < 0.05). Subsequently, the *D. scandens* stem extract at concentrations of 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/ml was chosen for further investigation. *M. oleifera* leaf extract, C. lappacea leaf extract, and hemp seed extract at concentrations of 1, 10, and  $100 \,\mu g/ml$ , were chosen for further investigation.



Concentration of M. oliefera leaves extract µg/ml

Figure 11 Viability of HaCat cells after treatment of *M. oliefera* leaf extracts

**NOTE:** The data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3, triplicate) \*significantly different versus the control group (p < 0.05, t-test)



Concentration of C. lappacea leaves extract  $\mu$ g/ml

Figure 12 Viability of HaCat cells after treatment of *C. lappacea* leaf extract



Figure 13 Viability of HaCat cells after treatment of hemp seeds extract

**NOTE:** The data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3, triplicate) \*significantly different versus the control group (p < 0.05, t-test).



Concentraion of *D. scandens* stems extract µg/ml

#### Figure 14 Viability of HaCat cells after treatment of D. scandens stem extract

**NOTE:** The data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3, triplicate) \*significantly different versus the control group (p < 0.05, t-test).

#### 2.2 Anti-Inflammatory Testing

The DNA of epithelial cells is damaged because of the inflammation resulting from radiation, when the macrophages, fibroblasts, endothelial and epithelial cells, all produce reactive oxygen species (ROS). In reaction to the inflammation, the damaged cells further release pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines like Nitric Oxide (NO), IL-1, IL-8, and PGE2. It also appears that the cytokine interleukin-1 (IL-1) can stimulate the expression of the enzyme COX-2 and promote the production of PGE2 in HaCaT cells. This is mentioned in previous studies which stated that IL-1 can also stimulate the expression of COX-2 and SCF in HaCaT cells (Yang et al., 2022).

After the onset of inflammation in the HaCat cells, the effectiveness of *M. oleifera* leaf extract, *D. scandens* stem extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and hemp seed extract against Nitric Oxide (NO), IL-1α, IL-8, and PGE2 was determined.

#### 2.2.1 Nitric Oxide suppression testing on UVB-induced HaCat cells

The effectiveness of *M. oleifera* leaf extract, *D. scandens* stem extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and hemp seed extract against Nitric Oxide (NO), IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-8, and PGE2 in suppressing inflammation in the HaCat cells were also determined in this study.

A Griess kit was used to measure NO production in the culture supernatants. The NO suppression testing process started with cell inflammation of the HaCat cells being induced by exposure to UVB light using a UV test chamber BS-04 source (Opsytec Dr Groebel, Germany; wavelength 313 nm) with a dose rate of 35 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>. HaCat cells were exposed for 22 seconds. The Distance of the cell culture and the lamps were approximately 24cm.

The HaCat cells were then treated with different concentrations of the sample extracts for 24 hr. Figure 15 shows the UVB radiation-induced NO production in the HaCat cells compared to the control group of untreated cells. The *M. oleifera* leaf extract, *D. scandens* stem extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and hemp seed extract significantly decreased the NO production at concentrations of 1, 10, and 100 µg/ml (p < 0.05). There was a significant difference in the inhibition activity at each concentration of *M. oleifera* leaf extract. At the concentrations of 10 and 100 µg/ml, the NO level reduced with each higher level of concentration. However, at a lower concentration of 1 µg/ml concentration, the level of NO inhibition was lower than in other concentrations. For *M. oleifera* at concentrations of 10 and 100 µg/ml, there was no statistical significance between the two concentrations. Whereas, at a concentration of 1 µg/ml there was a significant difference between the concentrations of 10 and 100 µg/ml.

*C. lappacea* leaf extract, on the other hand, inhibited NO production in the HaCat cells in a concentration-dependent manner and significantly increased the suppressive activity of *C. lappacea* leaf extract at 10  $\mu$ g/ml. NO levels in the HaCat cells at the concentration of 1 and 100  $\mu$ g/ml have no statistical difference compared to 10  $\mu$ g/ml concentration. Hemp seed extract at 1  $\mu$ g/ml concentration shows the highest NO inhibition compared to the other two hemp seed extracts at concentrations of 10 and 100  $\mu$ g/ml. Furthermore, there was a statistical difference between 1, 10, and 100  $\mu$ g/ml concentrations of hemp seed extracts.

Moreover, the results for *D. scandens* stem extract at 1 and 10 µg/ml showed significant inhibition activity (p < 0.05). However, there is no statistical difference between the two concentrations. The MTT assay results of *C. lappacea* leaf extract indicated that at all concentrations from 3.91 to 500 µg/ml increased cell viability. This can indicate the increase of the NO inhibitory effect of *C. lappacea* leaf extract at a concentration of  $10\mu$ g/ml. Another possibility is that some of the variety of compounds in this extract also boosted the inhibitory effect in the HaCat cells.



Figure 15 The inhibitory effect on NO of *M. oleifera* leaf extract, *D. scandens* stem extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and hemp seeds extract in UVB-induced inflammatory response in HaCat cells

**NOTE:** The data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3, triplicate) \*p < 0.05.

### 2.2.2 IL-8 testing on UVB-induced HaCat cells using Herbal

#### **Extracts**

Several studies have investigated the effects of IL-8 in UVBinduced HaCaT cells, and yet the role of IL-8 in UVB responses is unclear. One study found that IL-8 is released in HaCaT cells by UVB irradiation. As well, the same study found that pre-supplementation with certain compounds could reduce this release (Bhadri et al., 2021). Another study looked at the inhibitory effect of IL-6 and IL-8 on UVB-irradiated HaCaT cells and found a suppression of the proinflammatory cytokines (Kang et al., 2007).

In the current research, the dosage to induce IL-8 synthesis on HaCat cells was 35 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>. The results demonstrated that the UVB induced the production of IL-8 in HaCat cells. An ELISA kit was used to detect IL-8 production in cell culture media. Hydrocortisone  $5\mu g/ml$  significantly reduced IL-8 (p < 0.05) in UVB-induced cells. The effect was significantly concentration-dependent when the cells were treated with all the plant extracts. The decrease in IL-8 levels in the M. oleifera leaf extract-treated group with the concentrations of 1 and 100 µg/ml concentrations of was greater than the decrease observed with the 10 µg/ml concentration. If the concentration-response relationship levels follow a bell-shaped curve, it is possible that when, at 10 µg/ml, the inhibitory effects started to decrease, this caused the cytokine levels to increase, and the inhibitory effects started to peak again at 100  $\mu$ g/ml. There was no statistical difference from the results of *M. oleifera* leaf extract 1 and 100 µg/ml compared to 10 µg/ml. C. lappacea leaf extract at a concentration of 1µg/ml greatly shows a positive inhibitory effect compared to higher concentrations at 10 and 100 µg/ml. There was statistical difference between the result of 1 µg/ml compared to 10 and 100 µg/ml. Hemp seed extract at both lower concentrations of 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/ml has better inhibitory effects compared to 100  $\mu$ g/ml. Moreover, there was no statistical difference between 1 and 10 µg/ml compared to 100 µg/ml. Furthermore, D. scandens stem extract at both concentrations of 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/ml displayed an inhibitory effect on the production of IL-8 in the HaCat cells. The result for D. scandens stem extract at 10 µg/ml was a statistically significant compared with the result at 1  $\mu$ g/ml. The above result shows that C. lappacea leaf extract at a concentration of 1  $\mu$ g/ml and D. scandens stem extract at 10  $\mu$ g/ml

concentration have a great inhibitory effect on this test. Given these results, concentrations of  $1 \mu g/ml$  and  $10 \mu g/ml$  were used for further investigation.



Figure 16 The inhibitory effect on IL-8 of *M. oleifera* leaf extract, *D. scandens* stem extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and Hemp seeds extract in UVB-induced inflammatory response in HaCat cells

**NOTE:** The data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3, triplicate) \*p < 0.05.

### 2.2.3 IL-1a testing on UVB-induced HaCat cells using Herbal

#### **Extracts**

Interleukin-1 alpha (IL-1 $\alpha$ ) is a cytokine that plays a key role in modulating immune responses and inflammation. In this study, IL-1 $\alpha$  levels and the activity of herbal extracts on UVB-induced HaCat cells were tested. The UVB dosage necessary to induce IL-1 $\alpha$  synthesis in the HaCat cells was 35 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>. The results for

*M. oleifera* leaf extract at both concentration of 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/ml shows great inhibitory effect compared to HaCat cells that were only exposed to UVB without any treatment of plant extracts. Moreover, there was no statistical difference between both results for M. oleifera leaf extract. The inhibitory effect of the treatment on the C. lappacea leaf extract shows that high concentration demonstrated a positive effect on inhibitory activity. Moreover, there was a statistical difference between the results for both concentrations of C. lappacea leaf extract. Hemp seed extract-treated groups were strong with higher concentrations showing a greater effect. However, based on statistical analysis, there is no significant difference between the result for the two concentrations of hemp seed extract. D. scandens stem extract treated group showed a clear relationship between concentration and outcome, with a significant increase in the inhibitory effect observed at a lower dose. As well, hydrocortisone 5 µg/ml significantly reduced IL-8 (p < 0.05) in the UVB-induced cells. Hydrocortisone is commonly used in scientific studies because it is a well-known and extensively studied compound with a variety of well-established effects, allowing researchers to compare its effects with those of other compounds or treatments against the known and established standards when using hydrocortisone as a positive control, which can help validate and interpret the results. Furthermore, hydrocortisone has unique pharmacological properties that make it useful for researching specific biological systems and pathways.

Of all the herbal extracts tested on IL-1 $\alpha$  on the UVB-induced HaCat cells, the largest decrease in IL-1 $\alpha$  level (p < 0.05) was observed when the cells were treated with the hemp seed extract at a concentration of 10 µg/ml.



Figure 17 The inhibitory effect on IL-1a of *M. oleifera* leaf extract, *D. scandens* stem extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and hemp seeds extract in UVB-induced inflammatory response in HaCat cells

**NOTE:** The data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3, triplicate) \*p < 0.05.

## 2.2.4 PGE<sub>2</sub> testing on UVB-induced HaCat cells using Herbal

#### Extracts

PGE<sub>2</sub> is induced under various conditions and in various ways. For example, PGE<sub>2</sub> is induced by IL-1 $\alpha$  (Yan et al., 2005). As well, PGE<sub>2</sub> can be induced by IL-1 under certain conditions, and by UVB. Pupe et al., (2002) reported that EPA treatment reduces UVB-induced PGE<sub>2</sub> levels in an NHK-conditioned medium, which supports the implication that IL-1 can induce PGE<sub>2</sub> under certain conditions. Additionally, a previous study showed that UVB-irradiation (32 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>) initially induces IL-1 mRNA. In the current study, a dosage of 35 mJ/cm<sup>2</sup> of UVB was used to induce PGE2 synthesis on HaCat cells. These cells were treated with *M. oleifera* leaf extract, *D. scandens* stem extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and hemp seed extract at concentrations of 1 and  $10\mu$ g/ml. for 24 hr. An ELISA kit was used to detect IL-8 production in cell culture media.

*M. oleifera* leaf extract was found to decrease the PGE<sub>2</sub> level in the HaCat cells (p < 0.05) (Figure 18). For both concentration 1 and 10 µg/ml, there was no statistical difference on both concertation. Hemp seed extract also were found to decrease the PGE<sub>2</sub> level in the HaCat cells. Moreover, there were no statistical difference between both results. *C. lappacea* leaf extract at concentrations of 1 and 10 µg/ml, the amount of PGE<sub>2</sub> was higher than the amount of PGE<sub>2</sub> achieved by the *M. oleifera* leaf extract and the hemp seed extract at the same concentrations. Alternatively, *D. scandens* stem extract, exhibited a dose activity on the level of PGE<sub>2</sub> at a lower concentration (1 µg/ml) which demonstrated a more positive inhibitory effect than the higher concentrations of the extract 10 µg/ml.

These results suggest that it is possible that the *M. oleifera* leaf extract and hemp seed extract both enhanced the viability of the cells as indicated by the MTT assay results. Another possibility is that some compounds in both extracts may increase the inhibitory activity in HaCat cells.



Figure 18 The inhibitory effect on PGE<sub>2</sub> of *M. oleifera* leaf extract, *D. scandens* stem extract, *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and hemp seeds extract in UVB-induced inflammatory response in HaCat cells

**NOTE:** The data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3, triplicate) \*p < 0.05.

#### **3. Product Formulation**

The facial cream containing herbal extracts was developed to reduce inflammation. The concentration of *M. oleifera*, *C. lappacea*, and hemp seed extract was based on the results of the cytotoxicity assay. The exact location on the body, the skin's health, the existence of any barriers (such as hair or clothing), the characteristics of the substance being absorbed, and the length of exposure are just a few of the variables that can have a significant impact on the absorption value of the skin. It will be based on the absorption value of 0.5 %. Based on our results, *D*.

*scandens* stem extract at high concentration was toxic to HaCat cells. Therefore, we did not further include *D. scandens* stem extract in the formulation.

#### 4. Study of Facial Cream

When developing skincare products, the stability of facial creams is an important consideration. Stability refers to the ability of the cream to maintain its quality and efficacy over time, which is influenced by factors such as formulation, packaging, and storage conditions. Researchers must carefully design experiments and evaluate factors such as pH, viscosity, and microbiological resistance over time to extend the shelf-life stability of facial creams. This is in addition, of course, to optimize product formulations and packaging, and reducing the risk of skin irritation or other adverse effects. The facial cream being developed in this study was tested for stability using the protocol recommended by the World Health Organization (2009).

#### 4.1 Physical stability of facial cream

A sample of the facial cream was stored at 50°C, 4°C, and another at room temperature. Physical tests are evaluated by checking the color, odor/fragrance, pH value, viscosity, and emulsion stability (signs of separation) of each sample. The testing was done under accelerated conditions. The stability results after 90 days of storage are shown in Table 5-6.

D	Time	(cycle)
Parameters	0	7
Color	Cream Color	Cream Color
Odor	Characteristic odor	Characteristic odor
рН	$5.81 \pm 0.06$	$5.91 \pm 0.07$
Separation	No	No
Viscosity	$3120.00 \pm 0.80$ cp	2122.67 ± 0.32 cp

#### Table 5 Physical stability of facial cream after freeze-thaw cycle testing

testing
l stability
accelerated
m after a
creal
of facial
stability c
Physical
9
able

Parameters				Time (days)			
	0		30			90	
	-	RT	4°C	50°C	RT	4°C	50°C
Color	Cream color	Cream color	Cream color	Cream color	Cream color	Cream color	Cream color
Odor	Characteristic odor	Characteristic odor	Characteristic odor	Characteristic odor	Characteristic odor	Characteristic odor	Characteristic odor
pH	$5.81 \pm 0.06$	$5.84 \pm 0.03$	$5.86 \pm 0.01$	5.77 ± 0.02	$5.85 \pm 0.02$	$5.83 \pm 0.03$	$5.78\pm0.02$
Separation	No	No No	No	No ON	No	No	No
Viscosity	$3120.00 \pm 80.00$ cp	3125.67±42.25cp	2668.00±36.47cp	2211.00±107.62cp	3199.67±37.97cp	3287.67±45.83cp	2896.97±19.78cp
*RT – room	1 temperature		1. 87				

The skin has an acidic pH range which under normal conditions is between 4.1 to 6.7 (Proksch et al., 2018). The pH of the developed cream was found to be between 5.77 and 5.86, which was in the normal range for healthy skin. The formulation's color and appearance were observed and confirmed visually. The herbal extracts were distributed uniformly during the face cream formulation. The color of the facial cream was slightly pale, and yellowish-white, due to the presence of plant extracts. The odor was determined to be attractive.

Regarding viscosity, topical formulations with low viscosity have faster spread ability and absorbance, than highly viscous solutions which have an undesirable effect on the skin. The viscosity determinations were carried out using a Brookfield DV-III Rheometer (M13-2100) using spindle number S – CP 52 at 12 rpm. The test was done in triplicate, and the average of three readings was taken. The viscosity was found in the range of 2211.00 - 3199.67 (Dhyani et al., 2019). The overall result in physical stability passed, indicating that the formulation was suitable for skin applications.

#### 4.2 Chemical stability of facial cream evaluated by using HPLC Analysis

The quantitative analysis of astragalin in *M. oleifera* leaf extract, coumaric acid in *C. lappacea* leaf extract, and linoleic acid in hemp seeds extract compared with the standard was determined by HPLC analysis. HPLC method was used to analyze the compound of interest in the extract. The substance which has high compatibility with the mobile phase was eluded first. In this study, linoleic acid was eluted at  $7.40 \pm 0.12$  min. The calculated amount of linoleic acid in 1 mg hemp seed extract was  $82.22 \pm 0.54 \mu \text{g/ml}$  following the calculation from linearity of analyzing a series of linoleic acid standards (y = 33.496x - 1.545; R<sup>2</sup> = 0.9998).

Coumaric acid was eluted at  $12.45 \pm 0.12$  mins. The calculated amount of coumaric acid in *C. lappacea* leaf extract was  $33.67 \pm 0.09 \ \mu$ g/ml following the calculation from linearity of analyzing a series of coumaric acid standards (y = 100.68 + 14.467; R2 = 1). Astragalin was eluted at  $22.68 \pm 0.03$  min. The calculated amount of astragalin in *M. oleifera* leaf extract was  $84.08 \pm 20.01 \mu$ g/ml following the calculation from linearity of analyzing a series of astragalin standards (y = 13.425x + 29.381; R2 = 0.9996).



Table 7 % remaining of active compound in facial cream

				Time (days)			
Parameters	**0		30	F		90	
		RT	4°C	50°C	RT	4°C	50°C
% remaining of active	$100 \pm 0.42$	<b>87.25 ± 0.10</b>	$94.86 \pm 0.08$	$86.61 \pm 0.10$	86.42 ± 0.12	$93.12\pm0.56$	$85.71 \pm 0.59$
compound							
in Hemp seed extract							
% remaining of active	$100 \pm 0.46$	92.39 ± 0.23	$96.86 \pm 0.18$	$90.21 \pm 0.37$	$90.40 \pm 0.12$	$96.86\pm0.33$	$90.16 \pm 0.20$
compound							
in <i>C. lappacea</i> leaf extract							
% remaining of active	$100 \pm 0.42$	<i>87.25</i> ± 0.10	$94.86 \pm 0.86$	$86.61 \pm 0.47$	<b>84.</b> 42 ± 0.12	$93.12\pm0.56$	85.71 0.59
compound							
in M. oliefera leaf extract							
* RT – room temperature **	adjusted to b	aseline	1				



Figure 19 Chromatogram of M. oleifera extract 1 mg/ml



Figure 20 HPLC Chromatogram of Hemp seed extract 1 mg/ml



Figure 21 HPLC Chromatogram of C. lappacea extract 1 mg/ml

4.3 The efficacy of the preservative in the formulated facial cream containing herbal extracts

#### Table 8 Product specification

Items	Specifications		
Physical test			
Annooronoo	Cream O/W		
Appearance	Emulsion		
pH at 25°C	$5.81 \pm 0.06$		
Initial Viscosity	3120.00 ± 80.00 cp		

The facial cream was tested using the challenge test in the current study described in Chapter III which followed the United States Pharmacopeia standard (USP 35, chapter 51). Microorganisms in cosmetics significantly risk consumer health and high standards of quality monitoring are essential. The major goal of our challenge test was to evaluate the preservative properties of the developed product and detect any microbial contaminations that may occur when being used. the challenge test was effective and appropriate for predicting how the cream would react if contaminated with microorganisms which would cause deterioration and potential toxicity.

Temperature and humidity will cause variations in microbial growth and contamination which is an important consideration in Southeast Asian countries where the weather is normally warm and humid, providing ideal circumstances for such microbial growth. As well, the bacteria being investigated were often found in the environment and when passed by hand or other physical contacts.

Microorganism	Log CFU/g				
where our gamsm	Initial Count	Day 7	Day 14	Day 28	
S. aureus	5.0	2.2	2.1	2.0	pass
P. aeruginosa	5.1	2.3	2.0	1.6	pass
E. coli	4.9	2.3	2.1	2.0	pass
C. albicans	5.0	2.4	2.1	1.6	pass
A. niger	5.0	2.3	2.1	1.6	pass

Table 9 The log reduction of microorganisms

The results of the challenge test of the cream showed that this formulation passed the accepted criteria of antimicrobial effectiveness for category 2 products, including topically used products made with aqueous bases or vehicles, nonsterile nasal products, and emulsions including those applied to mucous membranes. The physical and chemical stability of the cream was also tested, and the cream passed those tests. The log reduction of bacterial count from the beginning up to day 14 and day 28 was greater than 2.0 logs. As well, no increase in bacterial count occurred from the 14th day to the 28th day. Additionally, no fungal or yeast increase was detected during the incubation period from day 7 to 28. The results are shown in Table 8. The log reduction of *S. aureus* and *E. coli* at initial count was 5 log reduction and on day 14<sup>th</sup> it was 2.9 log reduction. On day 28<sup>th</sup> for *S. aureus* and *E. coli* it was 3 log reduction. P. aeruginosa at initial count was 5 log reduction and on day 14<sup>th</sup> it was 3 log reduction. On day 28<sup>th</sup> P. aeruginosa it was 3.4 log reduction. Lastly, C. albicans and A. niger at initial count was 5 log reduction and on day 14th it was 2.9 log reduction. On day 28<sup>th</sup> C. albicans and A. niger it was 3.4 log reduction. The result shows that if the log reduction is greater than 2 log reduction which means it passed the criteria. Indicating that on day 14<sup>th</sup> it reduces more than 2 log reduction and on day 28th there were no bacteria, fungi, and yeast increase from initial count. This also signifies that the preservative use was effective.

#### **CHAPTER V**

#### CONCLUSION

In this research, the cytotoxicity and anti-inflammatory properties of *M. oleifera*, *D. scandens*, *C. lappacea*, and hemp seed extract were evaluated. As well, a facial cream was developed and its properties such as, color, appearance, and odor were evaluated after stability over time, together with the efficacy of the preservatives used in the facial cream.

A cytotoxicity study was conducted before testing the anti-inflammatory activities of the extracts. *M. oleifera, C. lappacea,* and hemp seed extract extracts significantly improved the viability of the HaCat cells, at all concentrations. The non-cytotoxic concentrations of *D. scandens* stem extract was 0.20 to 12.5 µg/ml. At higher concentration, *D. scandens* stem extract reduced the viability of HaCat after 24 hr. In addition, significant inhibition of NO release by UVB-induced HaCat cells occurred with 10 µg/ml concentrations of *C. lappacea* leaf extract. Moreover, hemp seed extract. *M. oleifera* leaf extract and *D. scandens* stem extract also showed inhibitory effects. The *D. scandens* stem extract at 10 µg/ml, and *C. lappacea* leaf extract at 10 µg/ml significantly inhibited the production of IL-8. Hemp seed extract at 10 µg/ml shows the positive inhibition of IL-1α. The concentrations of 1 and 10 µg/ml of *M. oleifera* leaf extract and hemp seed extract at concentrations 1 and 10 µg/ml did not show positive results. Furthermore, *D. scandens* stem extract only shows good inhibitory effect at 10 µg/ml.

The stability of the developed facial cream over 3 months at room temperature, 4°C, and 50°C, was satisfactory, with the chemical stability indicating that the bio-active markers for the extracts were maintained over the 3 months test period. In addition, we have shown that the preservatives used in this facial cream were effective in protecting the facial cream against microbial growth over the long term.

It can be concluded that *M. oleifera, D. scandens, C. lappacea*, and hemp seed extracts can inhibit inflammation of HaCat cells. The cosmetic cream containing these extracts was successfully developed with good stability profile.

However, given the sensitive nature of the use of cosmetic creams, further clinical studies are necessary to further prove these results.





#### REFERENCES

- Aburjai, T., & Natsheh, F. M. (2003). Plants used in cosmetics. Phytotherapy Research. An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives, 17(9), 987-1000.
- Albanesi, C., Scarponi, C., Giustizieri, M. L., & Girolomoni, G. (2005). Keratinocytes in inflammatory skin diseases. Current Drug Targets-Inflammation & Allergy, 4(3), 329-334.
- Allen, M., Skov, L., Barber, R., Trembath, R., Simon, J., Baadsgaard, O., & Barker, J. (1998). Ultraviolet B induced suppression of induction of contact sensitivity in human skin is not associated with tumour necrosis factor-alpha-308 or interleukin-10 genetic polymorphisms. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 139(2), 225-229.
- Anwar, F., Latif, S., Ashraf, M., & Gilani, A. H. (2007). Moringa oleifera: a food plant with multiple medicinal uses. Phytotherapy Research: An International *Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives*, 21(1), 17-25.
- Anwar, F., Latif, S., Ashraf, M., & Gilani, A. H. (2007). Moringa oleifera: a food plant with multiple medicinal uses. Phytotherapy Research: An International *Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives*, 21(1), 17-25.
- Aoki, T., & Narumiya, S. (2012). Prostaglandins and chronic inflammation. *Trends in pharmacological sciences*, *33*(6), 304-311.
- Apte, R. N., Dotan, S., Elkabets, M., White, M. R., Reich, E., Carmi, Y., Song, X., Dvozkin, T., Krelin, Y., & Voronov, E. (2006). The involvement of IL-1 in tumorigenesis, tumor invasiveness, metastasis and tumor-host interactions. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, 25(3), 387-408.
- Ayameang, O., Rattarom, R., Mekjaruskul, C., & Caichompoo, W. (2020). Antiinflammatory activity and quantitative analysis of major compounds of the mixtures of Derris scandens (DZSS) formula. *Pharmacognosy Journal*, 12(4).

- Bahuguna, A., Khan, I., Bajpai, V. K., & Kang, S. C. (2017). MTT assay to evaluate the cytotoxic potential of a drug. *Bangladesh Journal of Pharmacology*, 12(2), 115-118.
- Baishya, P., Mandal, M., Gogoi, P., & Maji, T. K. (2017). Natural Polymer-Based Nanocomposites: A Greener Approach for the Future. *Handbook of Composites from Renewable Materials, Nanocomposites: Science and Fundamentals, 7*, 433.
- Barker, J. N., Griffiths, C. E., Nickoloff, B. J., Mitra, R., & Dixit, V. M. (1991). Keratinocytes as initiators of inflammation. *The Lancet*, *337*(8735), 211-214.
- Barr, R. M., Walker, S. L., Tsang, W., Harrison, G. I., Ettehadi, P., Greaves, M. W., & Young, A. R. (1999). Suppressed alloantigen presentation, increased TNF-α, IL-1, IL-1Ra, IL-10, and modulation of TNF-R in UV-irradiated human skin. *Journal of investigative dermatology*, *112*(5), 692-698.
- Bashir, M. M., Sharma, M. R., & Werth, V. P. (2009). UVB and proinflammatory cytokines synergistically activate TNF-α production in keratinocytes through enhanced gene transcription. *Journal of investigative dermatology*, *129*(4), 994-1001.
- Berardesca, E., & Distante, F. (1995). Mechanisms of skin irritation. *Irritant Dermatitis*, 23, 1-8.
- Bhatnagar, S., Santapau, H., Desa, J., Maniar, A., Ghadially, N., Solomon, M.,
  Yellore, S., & Rao, T. (1961). Biological Activity of Indian Medicinal Plants.
  Part I. Antibacterial, Anti-tubercular and Antifungal Action. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 49(5), 799-813.
- Bhattacharya, S. B., Das, A. K., & Banerji, N. (1982). Chemical investigations on the gum exudate from sajna (Moringa oleifera). *Carbohydrate research*, 102(1), 253-262.
- Blainski, A., Lopes, G. C., & De Mello, J. C. P. (2013). Application and analysis of the folin ciocalteu method for the determination of the total phenolic content from Limonium brasiliense L. *Molecules*, 18(6), 6852-6865.
- Borhade, S. S. (2013). Chemical Composition and Characterization of Hemp (Cannabis sativa) Seed oil and essential fatty acids by HPLC Method. *Archives of applied science research*, 5(1), 5-8.

Brummer, R. (2006). Rheology essentials of cosmetic and food emulsions. Springer.

- Bureau of Drug and Narcotic, D. o. M. S., Ministry of Public Health. (2021). *Marum. Thai Herbal Pharmacopoeia*, Pages 471-478.
- Bureau of Drug and Narcotic, D. o. M. S., Ministry of Public Health. ((2021)). เถาวัลย์เปรียง (thaown priang). *Thai Herbal Pharmacopoeia*, Pages 669-676.

Chaichamnong, N., Temkitthawon, P., Khorana, N., Pitpakdeeanan, P.,

- Taepavarapruk, P., Nuengchamnong, N., Siriwattanasathien, Y., Suksamrarn, A., & Ingkaninan, K. (2018). *Phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitors from Derris scandens. Planta medica*, 84(15), 1134-1140.
- Chanchal, D., & Swarnlata, S. (2008). Novel approaches in herbal cosmetics. *Journal* of cosmetic dermatology, 7(2), 89-95.
- Chauhan, L., & Gupta, S. (2020). Creams: a review on classification, preparation methods, evaluation and its applications. *Journal of Drug Delivery and Therapeutics*, 10(5-s), 281-289.
- Chavalittumrong, P., Chivapat, S., Chuthaputti, A., Rattanajarasroj, S., & Punyamong,
  S. (1999). Chronic toxicity study of crude extract of Derris scandens Benth.
  Warasan Songkhlanakharin.
- Chen, L., Yang, G., & Grosser, T. (2013). Prostanoids and inflammatory pain. *Prostaglandins & other lipid mediators*, *104*, 58-66.
- Chin, C.-Y., Jalil, J., Ng, P. Y., & Ng, S.-F. (2018). Development and formulation of Moringa oleifera standardised leaf extract film dressing for wound healing application. *Journal of ethnopharmacology*, 212, 188-199.
- Choi, J., Kang, H. J., Kim, S. Z., Kwon, T. O., Jeong, S.-I., & Jang, S. I. (2013). Antioxidant effect of astragalin isolated from the leaves of Morus alba L. against free radical-induced oxidative hemolysis of human red blood cells. *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, 36(7), 912-917.
- Clydesdale, G. J., Dandie, G. W., & Muller, H. K. (2001). Ultraviolet light induced injury: immunological and inflammatory effects. *Immunology and cell biology*, *79*(6), 547-568.
- Corsini, E., Marinovich, M., & Galli, C. (1995). In vitro keratinocytes responses to chemical allergens. *Bollettino Chimico Farmaceutico*, *134*(10), 569-573.

- Crini, G., Lichtfouse, E., Chanet, G., & Morin-Crini, N. (2020). Traditional and new applications of hemp. In *Sustainable agriculture reviews* 42 (pp. 37-87). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41384-2\_2
- Dahot, M. U. (1988). Vitamin contents of the flowers and seeds of Moringa oleifera. Pakistan Journal of Biochemistry.
- Damian, D. L., Patterson, C. R., Stapelberg, M., Park, J., Barnetson, R. S. C., & Halliday, G. M. (2008). UV radiation-induced immunosuppression is greater in men and prevented by topical nicotinamide. *Journal of investigative dermatology*, 128(2), 447-454.
- Dhyani, A., Chander, V., & Singh, N. (2019). Formulation and evaluation of multipurpose herbal cream. *Journal of Drug Delivery and Therapeutics*, 9(2), 341-343.
- Dr. Wit Thiangburanatham, P. W., Jaree Bansit, Somchai Saenluang-In, Thanawat Thongjeen, Uthai Sothanaphan,. (2013). Thai Herbal Dictionary Book, "Taowan Pariang". *Journal of Thai Traditional Medicine and alternative medicine*, 5th edition, Pages 349-350,.
- Engsuwan, J., Waranuch, N., Limpeanchob, N., & Ingkaninan, K. (2021). Antiinflammatory effect of Moringa oleifera Lam. leaf extract on UVB-irradiated human keratinocytes. *Songklanakarin Journal of Science & Technology*, 43(3).
- Faizi, S., Siddiqui, B. S., Saleem, R., Aftab, K., & Shaheen, F. (1998). Hypotensive constituents from the pods of Moringa oleifera. *Planta medica*, 64(03), 225-228.
- Fisher, G. J., Kang, S., Varani, J., Bata-Csorgo, Z., Wan, Y., Datta, S., & Voorhees, J. J. (2002). Mechanisms of photoaging and chronological skin aging. *Archives* of dermatology, 138(11), 1462-1470.
- Flores-Sanchez, I. J., & Verpoorte, R. (2008). Secondary metabolism in cannabis. *Phytochemistry reviews*, 7(3), 615-639.
- Fuglie, L. (2001). Combating malnutrition with Moringa. Development potential for Moringa products, 1(1), 1-4.
- Gianfaldoni, S., Tchernev, G., Wollina, U., Fioranelli, M., Roccia, M. G., Gianfaldoni, R., & Lotti, T. (2017). An overview of laser in dermatology: the past, the present and... the future (?). Open access Macedonian journal of medical sciences, 5(4), 526.
- Gladstone, G. J. (2018). *Laser skin resurfacing. In Oculoplastic Surgery Atlas* (pp. 51-54). Springer.
- Gupta, V., Jain, A. D. K. J., Gill, N., & Guptan, K. (2012). Development and validation of HPLC method-a review. *International research journal of pharmaceutical and applied sciences*, 2(4), 17-25.
- Han, J.-T., Bang, M.-H., Chun, O.-K., Kim, D.-O., Lee, C.-Y., & Baek, N.-I. (2004). Flavonol glycosides from the aerial parts of Aceriphyllum rossii and their antioxidant activities. *Archives of Pharmacal Research*, 27(4), 390-395.
- Health., M. R. D. M. o. P. (2013). National list of essential medicines; nlem
- Hematulin, A., Ingkaninan, K., Limpeanchob, N., & Sagan, D. (2014). Ethanolic extract from Derris scandens Benth mediates radiosensitzation via two distinct modes of cell death in human colon cancer HT-29 cells. *Asian Pacific Journal* of Cancer Prevention, 15(4), 1871-1877.
- Hussain, H., Al-Harrasi, A., Krohn, K., Kouam, S. F., Abbas, G., Shah, A., Raees, M. A., Ullah, R., Aziz, S., & Schulz, B. (2015). Phytochemical investigation and antimicrobial activity of Derris scandens. *Journal of King Saud University-Science*, 27(4), 375-378.
- Jamshiya, S. (2017). Formulation and Evaluation of Herbal Skin Cream for Wound Healing RVS College of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Coimbatore.
- Kamoltham, T., Manosroi, J., Chankhampan, C., Manosroi, W., & Manosroi, A. (2018). In vitro anti-aging activities of Centotheca lappacea (L) desv.(Ya repair) extract. *Chaing Mai Journal of Science*, 45, 846-857.
- Köck, A., Schwarz, T., Kirnbauer, R., Urbanski, A., Perry, P., Ansel, J., & Luger, T. (1990). Human keratinocytes are a source for tumor necrosis factor alpha: evidence for synthesis and release upon stimulation with endotoxin or ultraviolet light. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *172*(6), 1609-1614.

- Kuljittichanok, D., Diskul-Na-Ayudthaya, P., Weeraphan, C., Chokchaichamnankit,
  D., Chiablaem, K., Lirdprapamongkol, K., Svasti, J., & Srisomsap, C. (2018).
  Effect of Derris scandens extract on a human hepatocellular carcinoma cell
  line. Oncology Letters, 16(2), 1943-1952.
- Lalas, S., & Tsaknis, J. (2002). Characterization of Moringa oleifera seed oil variety "Periyakulam 1". Journal of food composition and analysis, 15(1), 65-77.
- Laupattarakasem, P., Houghton, P. J., & Hoult, J. R. S. (2004). Anti-inflammatory isoflavonoids from the stems of Derris scandens. *Planta medica*, *70*(06), 496-501.
- Lee, M., Rho, H. S., & Choi, K. (2019). Anti-inflammatory effects of a P-coumaric acid and kojic acid derivative in LPS-stimulated RAW264. 7 macrophage cells. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, 24(4), 653-657.
- Leonard, W., Zhang, P., Ying, D., & Fang, Z. (2020). Hempseed in food industry: Nutritional value, health benefits, and industrial applications. *Comprehensive reviews in food science and food safety*, 19(1), 282-308.
- Li, F., Wang, W., Cao, Y., Liang, D., Zhang, W., Zhang, Z., Jiang, H., Guo, M., & Zhang, N. (2014). Inhibitory effects of astragalin on lipopolysaccharideinduced inflammatory response in mouse mammary epithelial cells. *journal of surgical research*, 192(2), 573-581.
- Lodovici, M., Caldini, S., Morbidelli, L., Akpan, V., Ziche, M., & Dolara, P. (2009). Protective effect of 4-coumaric acid from UVB ray damage in the rabbit eye. *Toxicology*, 255(1-2), 1-5.
- Losquadro, W. D. (2017). Anatomy of the skin and the pathogenesis of nonmelanoma skin cancer. Facial Plastic Surgery Clinics, 25(3), 283-289.
- Luo, C., Wang, A., Wang, X., Li, J., Liu, H., Wang, M., Wang, L., Lai, D., & Zhou, L. (2015). A new proline-containing flavonol glycoside from Caragana leucophloea Pojark. *Natural Product Research*, 29(19), 1811-1819.
- Mahabusarakam, W., Deachathai, S., Phongpaichit, S., Jansakul, C., & Taylor, W. (2004). A benzil and isoflavone derivatives from Derris scandens Benth. *Phytochemistry*, 65(8), 1185-1191.

- Makkar, H., & Becker, K. (1997). Nutrients and antiquality factors in different morphological parts of the Moringa oleifera tree. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 128(3), 311-322.
- Makkar, H. a., & Becker, K. (1996). Nutrional value and antinutritional components of whole and ethanol extracted Moringa oleifera leaves. *Animal feed science and technology*, 63(1-4), 211-228.
- Makonnen, E., Hunde, A., & Damecha, G. (1997). Hypoglycaemic effect of Moringa stenopetala aqueous extract in rabbits. Phytotherapy Research. An International Journal Devoted to Medical and Scientific Research on Plants and Plant Products, 11(2), 147-148.
- Marrufo, T., Nazzaro, F., Mancini, E., Fratianni, F., Coppola, R., De Martino, L., Agostinho, A. B., & De Feo, V. (2013). Chemical composition and biological activity of the essential oil from leaves of Moringa oleifera Lam. cultivated in *Mozambique*. *Molecules*, 18(9), 10989-11000.
- Martinez, J. R., Montserrat-de la Paz, S., De la Puerta, R., García-Giménez, M. D., & Fernández-Arche, M. Á. (2020). Characterization of bioactive compounds in defatted hempseed (Cannabis sativa L.) by UHPLC-HRMS/MS and anti-inflammatory activity in primary human monocytes. *Food & function*, 11(5), 4057-4066.
- McClatchey, W. (1996). The ethnopharmacopoeia of Rotuma. *Journal of ethnopharmacology*, *50*(3), 147-156.
- McCullough, J. L., & Kelly, K. M. (2006). Prevention and treatment of skin aging. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1067(1), 323-331.
- Meethang, J. T. K. I. S., Munsing, S., & Hematulin, A. (2020). *The radioprotective potential of Centotheca lappacea* (*L*) *desv. extract in human endothelial cell.*
- Mehta, K., Balaraman, R., Amin, A., Bafna, P., & Gulati, O. (2003). Effect of fruits of Moringa oleifera on the lipid profile of normal and hypercholesterolaemic rabbits. *Journal of ethnopharmacology*, 86(2-3), 191-195.
- Merrill, E. D. (1912). A flora of Manila (Vol. 46). Bureau of printing.

- Minale, G., Temkitthawon, P., Waranuch, N., Nuengchamnong, N., Ngamdokmai, N., Pitiporn, S., Kwankhao, P., & Ingkaninan, K. (2021). Phytochemical constituents of Centotheca lappacea (L.) Desv. determined with online DPPH assay coupled to LC-ESI-QTOF-MS and headspace GC-MS. Songklanakarin *Journal of Science & Technology*, 43(3).
- Moravkova, T., & Stern, P. (2011). Rheological and textural properties of cosmetic emulsions. *Applied rheology*, *21*(3).
- Morelli, J. G., & Norris, D. A. (1993). Influence of inflammatory mediators and cytokines on human melanocyte function. *Journal of investigative dermatology*, *100*(2), S191-S195.
- Morton, J. F. (1991). The horseradish tree, Moringa pterygosperma (Moringaceae)—a boon to arid lands? *Economic botany*, 45(3), 318-333.
- Mosmann, T. (1983). Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *Journal of immunological methods*, 65(1-2), 55-63.
- Muanwongyathi, P., & Supatwanich, P. (1981). Pharmacognostic study of Derris scandens Benth. *MU J Pharm*, *8*, 57-64.
- Norsaengsri, M., & Chantaranothai, P. (2008). The tribe Centotheceae (Poaceae) in Thailand. *Thai Forest Bulletin (Botany)(36)*, 52-60.
- Orjalo, A. V., Bhaumik, D., Gengler, B. K., Scott, G. K., & Campisi, J. (2009). Cell surface-bound IL-1α is an upstream regulator of the senescence-associated IL-6/IL-8 cytokine network. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(40), 17031-17036.
- Padmarao, P., Acharya, B., & Dennis, T. (1996). Pharmacognostic study on stembark of Moringa oleifera Lam. *Bulletin of Medico-Ethno-Botanical Research*, 17, 141-151.
- Pitiporn S., P. K. P. (2014). Herbal treatment for women. *Record of Thailand*, *7*, 134-136.
- Ramachandran, C., Peter, K. V., & Gopalakrishnan, P. K. (1980). Drumstick (Moringa oleifera). A multipurpose Indian vegetable. Economic botany, 34(3), 276-283. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02858648

- Ramachandran, C., Peter, K. V., & Gopalakrishnan, P. K. (1980). Drumstick (Moringa oleifera): A multipurpose Indian vegetable. *Economic botany*, 34(3), 276-283. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02858648
- Rangwala, S., & Tsai, K. (2011). Roles of the immune system in skin cancer. *British Journal of Dermatology*, *165*(5), 953-965.
- Rao, S. A., Srinivas, P. V., Tiwari, A. K., Vanka, U. M. S., Rao, R. V. S., Dasari, K. R., & Rao, M. J. (2007). Isolation, characterization and chemobiological quantification of α-glucosidase enzyme inhibitory and free radical scavenging constituents from Derris scandens Benth. *Journal of chromatography B*, 855(2), 166-172.
- Rao, S. A., Srinivas, P. V., Tiwari, A. K., Vanka, U. M. S., Rao, R. V. S., Dasari, K. R., & Rao, M. J. (2007). Isolation, characterization and chemobiological quantification of α-glucosidase enzyme inhibitory and free radical scavenging constituents from Derris scandens Benth. *Journal of chromatography B*, 855(2), 166-172.
- Recasens, M., Ricart, W., & Fernández-Real, J. (2004). Obesidad e inflamación. *Rev Med Univ Navarra, 48*(2), 49-54.
- Reddy, G., Priyanka, B., Saranya, C. S., & Kumar, C. (2012). Wound healing potential of Indian medicinal plants. *International Journal of Pharmacy Review & Research*, 2(2), 75-87.
- Research., D. o. M. S. M. P. ((2003)). *Research of Toxicology*. Bangkok: Religious Organization.
- Resende Co, T., Hirsch, C. S., Toossi, Z., Dietze, R., & Ribeiro-Rodrigues, R. (2007).
  Intestinal helminth co-infection has a negative impact on both anti-Mycobacterium tuberculosis immunity and clinical response to tuberculosis therapy. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, 147(1), 45-52.
- Ricciotti, E., & FitzGerald, G. A. (2011). Prostaglandins and inflammation. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology, 31*(5), 986-1000.
- Ruckmani, K., Kavimani, S., An, R., & Jaykar, B. (1998). Effect of Moringa oleifera Lam on paracetamol-induced hepatotoxicity. *Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 60(1), 33.

- Rukachaisirikul, V., Sukpondma, Y., Jansakul, C., & Taylor, W. C. (2002). Isoflavone glycosides from Derris scandens. *Phytochemistry*, *60*(8), 827-834.
- Sahu, R. K., Roy, A., Kushwah, P., & Sahu, A. (2012). Formulation and development of face cream containing natural products. *Evaluation*, *6*(F6), 6.4.
- Saiki, P., Kawano, Y., Van Griensven, L. J., & Miyazaki, K. (2017). The antiinflammatory effect of Agaricus brasiliensis is partly due to its linoleic acid content. *Food & function*, 8(11), 4150-4158.
- Saiki, P., Kawano, Y., Van Griensven, L. J., & Miyazaki, K. (2017). The antiinflammatory effect of Agaricus brasiliensis is partly due to its linoleic acid content. *Food & function*, 8(11), 4150-4158.
- Sangiovanni, E., Fumagalli, M., Pacchetti, B., Piazza, S., Magnavacca, A., Khalilpour, S., Melzi, G., Martinelli, G., & Dell'Agli, M. (2019). Cannabis sativa L. extract and cannabidiol inhibit in vitro mediators of skin inflammation and wound injury. *Phytotherapy Research*, 33(8), 2083-2093.
- Sastri, B. (1962). The Wealth of India. A Dictionary of Indian Raw Materials and Industrial Products. Raw Materials, Vol. 6: LM. The Wealth of India. A Dictionary of Indian Raw Materials and Industrial Products. Raw Materials, Vol. 6: LM.
- Siddhuraju, P., & Becker, K. (2003). Antioxidant properties of various solvent extracts of total phenolic constituents from three different agroclimatic origins of drumstick tree (Moringa oleifera Lam.) leaves. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 51(8), 2144-2155.
- Soromou, L. W., Chen, N., Jiang, L., Huo, M., Wei, M., Chu, X., Millimouno, F. M., Feng, H., Sidime, Y., & Deng, X. (2012). Astragalin attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory responses by down-regulating NFkB signaling pathway. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 419(2), 256-261.
- Sreelatha, T., Hymavathi, A., Rao, V. R. S., Devanand, P., Rani, P. U., Rao, J. M., & Babu, K. S. (2010). A new benzil derivative from Derris scandens: Structureinsecticidal activity study. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters*, 20(2), 549-553.

- Sriklung, K., Apiratikul, N., Samosorn, S., Narkwichean, A., & Watanapokasin, R.
   (2022). Lupalbigenin Inhibiting NF-κB Translocation Associated with Anti-Inflammatory Responses in Lipopolysaccharide Stimulated RAW 264.7 Macrophages.
- Sriwanthana, B., & Chavalittumrong, P. (2001). In vitro effect of Derris scandens on normal lymphocyte proliferation and its activities on natural killer cells in normals and HIV-1 infected patients. *Journal of ethnopharmacology*, 76(1), 125-129.
- Stefanini, I., Nissen, L., Grandi, S., Zatta, A., & Piccaglia, R. (2006). Characterization and Biological Activity of Essential Oils from four different Hemp (Cannabis sativa L.) cultivars. *Proceeding of the Final conference*. HEMP SYS, Bologna.

Supaporn Pitiporn. (2014). Book of the land 7 herbs to take care of women.

- Takashima, A., Noguchi, K., Michel, G., Mercken, M., Hoshi, M., Ishiguro, K., & Imahori, K. (1996). Exposure of rat hippocampal neurons to amyloid β peptide (25–35) induces the inactivation of phosphatidyl inositol-3 kinase and the activation of tau protein kinase I/glycogen synthase kinase-3β. *Neuroscience letters*, 203(1), 33-36.
- Thavatchai Kamoltham, S. R., Kritsana Supan, Pornsiri Rodsienglump, . (30, April 2017). Chemical constituents of centotheca lappacea (l.) desv. Aerial parts, 15, 1. https://he01.tci-thaijo.org/index.php/JTTAM/article/view/113193
- Tiangburanatham, W. (1996). Dictionary of Thai medicinal plants. Prachumtong Printing, Bangkok, 349-350.
- Tsukiyama, M., Sugita, T., Kikuchi, H., Yasuda, Y., Arashima, M., Okumura, H., Lhieochaiphant, S., & Shoyama, Y. (2010). Effect of Duabanga grandiflora for human skin cells. *The American Journal of Chinese Medicine*, 38(02), 387-399.
- Verma, A. R., Vijayakumar, M., Mathela, C. S., & Rao, C. V. (2009). In vitro and in vivo antioxidant properties of different fractions of Moringa oleifera leaves. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 47(9), 2196-2201.

- Verma, A. R., Vijayakumar, M., Mathela, C. S., & Rao, C. V. (2009). In vitro and in vivo antioxidant properties of different fractions of Moringa oleifera leaves. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 47(9), 2196-2201.
- Vongsak, B., Sithisarn, P., & Gritsanapan, W. (2014). Simultaneous HPLC quantitative analysis of active compounds in leaves of Moringa oleifera Lam. *Journal of chromatographic science*, 52(7), 641-645.
- WebMD Editorial Contributions. (2021, November 05). *Laser resurfacing*. Retrieved January 22, 2020, from https://www.webmd.com/beauty/laser-resurfacing
- Yeshanew, G. M., Yeshanew, G. M., & Ingkaninan, K. (2020). Chemical characterization of metabolites of medicinal plants using liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC-MS) and gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GC-MS). Naresuan University.





## APPENDIX A APPROVAL DOCUMENT FOR PROCESSING THIS RESEARCH STUDY FROM GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NARESUAN UNIVERSITY



คณะเภสัชศาสตร์ มหาวิทยาลัยนเรศวร รับที่ 1269 (146 รับที่ 17/7/16 เวลา 14.05 รัตถกับแฟ้มที่ 7540

Announcement The Graduate School, Naresuan University Approval of Thesis Proposal to Conduct Research No. 41/2023

The Graduate School approved Miss NINO DE MESA, student ID: 63063934; Master of Science Program in Cosmetic Sciences, to conduct research. The approved thesis proposal entitled: "DEVELOPMENT OF FACIAL CREAM FOR ANTI-INFLAMMATORY REDUCTION CONTAINING HERBAL EXTRACTS" with Associate Professor Dr. Neti Waranuch as the thesis advisor.

Announced date: March 15, 2023

Krzym Chootip

(Associate Professor Dr. Krongkarn Chootip) Dean of the Graduate School, Naresuan University

## APPENDIX B APPROVAL DOCUMENT FOR HUMAN ETHIC COMMITTEE OF NARESUAN UNIVERSITY

